# Digital Photo Analysis for Tissue Carotenoid Status Assessment

Lucas Roldos

School of Human Nutrition

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

October 2017

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of Master of Science

© Lucas Roldos, 2018

Table of Contents	
Title Page	i
Table of Contents	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
RÉSUMÉ	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
Chapter 1	1
1.1 Rationale and Statement of Purpose	1
1.2 Thesis Objective	
Chapter 2	4
2.1 Fruit and Vegetable (FV) Intake	
2.2 FV Intake and Non-Communicable Disease (NCD)	6
2.2.1 Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs)	7
2.2.2 Cancer	7
2.2.3 Type II Diabetes Mellitus	
2.2.4 Other Disease Conditions	9
2.3 FV Phytochemicals	
2.4 Carotenoids	
2.4.1 Metabolism and Absorption	
2.4.2 Bioavanability and inter-individuality	
2.4.4 Benefits against NCDs	
2.4.3.1 Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)	
2.4.3.2 Cancer	
2.4.3.3 Diabetes	
2.4.3.4 Inflammation and Oxidative Stress	
2.4.3.5 Eye and Neurological Diseases	
2.5 Common Methods of Carotenoid Assessment	
2.5.1 Self-administered Questionnaires	
2.5.2 Fight Performance Equil Chromatography (HPEC)	
2.5.4 Resonance Raman Spectrophotometry	
2.5.5 Reflectance Spectrophotometry (RS)	
2.5.6 Digital Image Analysis	
2.6 Perceived Health and Attractiveness	
2.7 Potential Motivational Nudge	
Chapter 3	41
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and Methods	
3.2.1 Study Design	

3.2.2 Participants	
3.2.3 Weight and Height	
3.2.4 Dietary Assessment	
3.2.5 β-Carotene Quantification by LC-MS	
3.2.6 Spectrophotometer Skin Coloration Values	47
3.2.7 Digital Photo Capture and Processing	
3.2.8 Perceived Health and Attractiveness Assessment	49
3.2.9 Digital Photo Analysis	49
3.2.10 Statistical Analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Dietary and physiological characteristics of participants	
3.3.2 Carotenoid content of juice	
3.3.3 Change in skin color over time	
3.3.4 Change in perceived health and attractiveness over time	
3.4 Discussion	
Chapter 4	73
4.1 General Summary and Conclusions	
References	

### ABSTRACT

**Background**: Carotenoids are yellow-red plant pigments obtained from fruits and vegetables (FV) that are largely deposited into skin and serve as a biomarker for FV intake. Current methods of carotenoid assessment (dietary assessment, HPLC blood analysis, skin spectrophotometry) can be biased, time consuming, complex, and expensive.

**Objective**: We aimed to assess the feasibility of digital image skin color analysis for skin carotenoid content estimation against spectrophotometric analysis and study the impact of carotenoid-mediated facial skin coloration on measures of perceived health and attractiveness.

**Methods**: Twenty-five participants completed a two-week open label carrot-based juice supplementation trial with bi-weekly follow up measurements for four weeks. Images of three skin regions (palm, top hand, cheek) were taken under various lighting conditions (standardized, device-flash, incandescent) and with different devices (Canon camera, and two smartphones) along with dietary (FFQ & diet diary) and spectrophotometric measurements. Images were rated for perceived health and attractiveness by trained evaluators that exhibited high inter-rater reliability. **Results**: Palm carotenoid-mediated skin coloration increased significantly following supplementation (Week 2) and throughout follow up (Weeks 4 & 6). Digital image skin color analysis of the palm correlated strongly with spectrophotometer changes in palm skin coloration, with the strongest correlation noted for images taken with a device's flash. No significant changes were noted for perceived health and attractiveness ratings.

**Conclusion**: We conclude that digital image analysis can serve as a rapid estimate for skin carotenoid content when images are taken with the device's flash, but changes in perceived health and attractiveness may require more than two weeks of carotenoid supplementation.

# RÉSUMÉ

**Contexte**: Les caroténoïdes sont des pigments végétaux jaune-rouge obtenus à partir de fruits et de légumes (FL), qui se déposent en grande partie dans la peau et servent de biomarqueur à l'apport en FL. Les méthodes actuelles d'évaluation des caroténoïdes (évaluation du régime alimentaire, analyse sanguine par CLHP, spectrophotométrie cutanée) peuvent être biaisées, longues, complexes et coûteuses.

**Objectif**: Nous avions pour objectif d'évaluer la faisabilité de l'analyse numérique de la couleur de la peau contre l'analyse spectrophotométrique pour l'estimation du contenu en caroténoïdes de la peau et d'étudier l'impact de la coloration de la peau du visage induite par les caroténoïdes sur les mesures de la santé perçue et de l'attractivité physique.

Méthodes: Un essai en ouvert de deux semaines de supplémentation en jus à base de carottes a été mené auprès de vingt-cinq participants, avec mesures de suivi toutes les deux semaines pendant quatre semaines. Des images de trois régions de la peau (paume, revers de la main, joue) ont été prises sous différentes conditions d'éclairage (standard, flash, incandescent) et avec différents appareils (appareil photo Canon et deux téléphones intelligents) ainsi qu'une évaluation alimentaire (questionnaire de fréquence de consommation alimentaire et journal alimentaire) et mesures spectrophotométriques.

**Résultats**: La coloration de la peau de la paume médiée par les caroténoïdes a considérablement augmenté suivant la supplémentation (semaine 2) et pendant le suivi (semaines 4 et 6). L'analyse numérique de la couleur de la peau de la paume est étroitement corrélée aux changements de coloration évalués par spectrophotométrie, la corrélation la plus forte étant observée pour les images prises avec un flash. Aucun changement significatif n'a été noté pour les évaluations de la santé perçue et de l'attractivité physique. **Conclusion**: Nous concluons que l'analyse numérique des images peut servir d'estimation rapide du contenu en caroténoïdes de la peau lorsque les images sont prises avec le flash de l'appareil, mais des modifications de la santé perçue et de l'attractivité pourraient nécessiter plus de deux semaines de supplémentation en caroténoïdes.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to thank Dr. Stan Kubow for allowing me to jump on what was first mentioned to me as a 'secret project' and giving me the freedom to explore his idea. Dr. Kubow acted as a role model and guide, through his ideas and discussions over nutrition topics. I want to thank him for fostering a flexible and enriching research environment for me to explore, all while leaving crumbs of knowledge to nudge me in the right direction. I also wish to thank my committee members Dr. Elena Gheorgiu, Dr. Danielle Donnelly, and Dr. Luis B. Agellon for their helpful insight and advice.

I want to thank Ben Jennings for his tireless support of the in-house Matlab program used to analyze the photos taken. Countless meetings and emails troubleshooting and re-coding the program are a testament to his support.

I want to thank Brian Lee and Travis Bell from cold-pressed juice brand Buda Juice for making this study possible by donating the juice for the intervention. The juice tasted great and the participants were very pleased.

I want to thank Dr. Michele Iskandar for pushing me to see Dr. Kubow to explore any opportunities that aligned with my interests, knowing about the 'secret project'. I want to thank her for support in the many miscellaneous aspects of work, from study design and logistics to statistics and brainstorming. I want to thank Kebba Sabbally for his constant support on protocol development, first with the juice and skin carotenoid extraction, and then with the HPLC and LC-MS protocols.

I want to thank Baasir Gaisawat for his constant support, from motivation to photography to setup of some aspects of the study. I want to thank Alana Cohen, Dr. John Lydon's lab coordinator, for organizing and orchestrating the perception trial. I also want to thank Catherine Vanstone for facilitating my work at the Mary Emily Research Unit.

Finally, I want to thank my friends and family for supporting me throughout the journey. Last but not least, I thank my girlfriend for taking me away from my work, allowing me to come back fresher and more focused.

# **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

Lucas Roldos (MSc Candidate) was mainly responsible for study design and implementation, development of protocols, ethical approval, coordination of juice donation and delivery, sample recruitment and coordination, data collection (weight, height, spectrophotometer readings, skin samples, photo capture), experiments and analyzing data. The candidate wrote this thesis and prepared all the figures and tables.

Dr. Stan Kubow (Supervisor of Candidate, Associate Professor, School of Human Nutrition, McGill University): Provided the research direction, guidance and feedback for this study, its ethics application, and thesis. Dr. Kubow provided extensive edits on the thesis.

Dr. Elena Gheorghiu (Committee member; Department of Psychology, Sterling University): Guided data analysis, study design and thesis presentation, and helped edit the thesis.

Dr. Danielle Donnelly (Committee member; Department of Plant Science, McGill University): Pushed for an intervention trial, provided guidance throughout with a concentration on thesis presentation and thesis edits.

Dr. Louis Agellon (Committee member; School of Human Nutrition, McGill University): Provided ideas for study design, data analysis and thesis presentation and helped edit the thesis.

Dr. Fred Kingdom (McGill Vision Research Center): Provided guidance for color and image processing.

Dr. Ben Jennings (Lecturer of Psychology; Department of Life Sciences; Brunel University) Designed and edited in-house Matlab image processing software and advised on lighting and color control for image capture conditions.

Dr. John Lydon (Professor and Department Chair; Department of Psychology, McGill University): Provided guidance and design for the perception trial.

Alana Cohen (Lydon Lab Coordinator): Organized and led the perception trial in the Department of Psychology and communicated results and procedures.

Dr. Michele Iskandar (Postdoctoral Fellow; School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition, McGill University): Guided protocol development, study design and data analysis.

Dr. Kebba Sabally (Research Associate; School of Human Nutrition, McGill University): Provided training and testing of juice samples with HPLC and LC-MS.

# LIST OF TABLES

 Table 3.1 Subject Characteristics

**Table 3.2** Average nutrient profile for baseline, midpoint, and endpoints (weeks 0, 3, and 6, respectively) from diet diaries

**Table 3.3** Average daily fruit and vegetable (FV) servings  $\pm$  SD for all participants at each timepoint determined by food frequency questionnaire (FFQ)

**Table 3.4** Significances of the time-dependant changes in b\* values for a reference white color obtained from the Canon camera under different lighting conditions

**Table 3.5** Canon camera color calibrated & reference white normalized image b\* value correlation with respective spectrophotometer b\* value

 Table 3.6 Canon camera color calibrated image b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

**Table 3.7** All camera image reference white normalized b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

**Table 3.8** All camera image b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

**Table 3.9** Significances of the time-dependant changes in b\* values for color calibrated images obtained from the Canon camera under different lighting conditions

**Table 3.10** Significances of time-dependant changes in b\* values for reference white normalized images obtained from all different devices, ROI, and lighting conditions.

**Table 3.11** Significances of time-dependant changes in b\* values for images obtained from all different devices, ROI, and lighting conditions.

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Study Design Timeline

**Figure 3.2** Average b\* values following Minolta spectrophotometer measurement on different regions of the skin including top of the hand (grey), palm (blue), and cheek (orange) (error bars are SEM).

**Figure 3.3** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the Canon camera under the flash condition (error bars are SEM)

**Figure 3.4** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the Pixel 1 smartphone camera under the flash condition (error bars are SEM).

**Figure 3.5** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the iPhone 4 smartphone camera under the incandescent condition (error bars are SEM).

Figure 3.6 Intervention responsiveness by palm spectrophotometer readings

**Figure 3.7** Average ratings of perceived health and attractiveness for the 25 participants over time (error bars are SEM).

**Figure 3.8** Average ratings of perceived health and attractiveness in responders to supplementation for palm and cheek b\* values (> 1.0 increase) (error bars in SEM)

#### 8-OHdG 8-hydroxy-2'-hydroxyguanosine 8-iso-PGF2 8-isoprostane F2α Age-related Macular Degeneration AMD AUC Area Under the Curve BCO1 β-Carotene Oxygenase 1 β-Carotene Oxygenase 2 BCO2 Best Corrected Visual Acuity BCVA BP Blood pressure CAT Contrast Acuity Threshold CCD Charge Coupled Device CCHS Canadian Community Health Survey CD36 Cluster Determinant 36 CHD **Coronary Heart Disease** Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage CIE CRP **C-Reactive Protein** CVD Cardiovascular Disease DALY **Disability Adjusted Life Years** DASH Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension EPIC European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and nutrition FFQ Food Frequency Questionnaire FV Fruit(s) and Vegetable(s) Global Burden of Disease GBD HPLC High-Performance Liquid Chromatography hsCRP High-sensitivity C-Reactive protein IR Insulin Resistance LCAT Lecithin Cholesterol Acyltransferase LC-MS Liquid Chromatography tandem Mass Spectrometry LDL Low-Density Lipoprotein MPOD Macular Pigment Optical Density NCD Non-communicable Disease PON-1 ParaoxoNase-1 PURE Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology RCT Randomized Controlled Trial ROS Reactive Oxygen Species RRS Resonance Raman Spectrophotometry SEM Standard Error Mean sICAM1 Soluble Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 SNP Single-nucleotide Polymorphism SR-B1 Scavenger Receptor class B type 1 UV Ultraviolet WHO World Health Organization

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

#### Chapter 1

### **Introduction and Objectives**

#### **1.1 Rationale and Statement of Purpose**

Almost 80% of the global population consumes less than the recommended intake of five fruit and vegetable (FV) servings per day (Hall et al., 2009). In Canada, about 70% of the population consumes inadequate amounts of FVs (Statistics Canada, 2017) and only 1 in 10 adolescents (ages 11-17 years) consumes adequate amounts (Minaker & Hammond, 2016). This dietary trend has grave consequences as FV consumption is inversely associated with non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, diabetes, and more (Boeing et al., 2012); the above-mentioned diseases being within the top ten causes of mortality worldwide (Xu et al., 2016).

Carotenoids are yellow-red plant pigments with provitamin A, antioxidant (Maiani et al., 2009), anti-inflammatory (Watzl et al., 2005), and anti-cancer (Donaldson, 2011) properties that can only be obtained from the diet, primarily from FVs (Namitha & Negi, 2010). These compounds are thought to be one of the driving factors for the inverse relationship between FV intake and chronic disease (Vargas-Murga et al., 2016), exhibiting a positive dose response relationship between serum carotenoid concentrations and NCD risk prevention (Donaldson, 2011). A major limitation towards primary disease prevention is that patient screening for carotenoid status is not a routine practice due to invasive sample-based measures or biased self-reported methods (Maiani et al., 2009). While the prevalence of vitamin A deficiency is decreasing across low-income countries thanks to large vitamin A supplementation programs (UNICIEF, 2018), deficiency is

still of grave concern for most of South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa (Stevens et al., 2017). Thus, there is a need for an accessible, non-invasive pro-vitamin A carotenoid screening tool.

Tissue carotenoid content has emerged as a biomarker for FV intake and non-invasive, objective spectroscopic methods have been validated for carotenoid and FV intake assessment (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Mayne et al., 2010). Since carotenoids reach the systemic circulation and are ultimately stored in the liver, adipose tissue, and skin (Kiokias et al., 2016), modern optical methods focus on skin yellowing for rapid yet reliable measurement of carotenoid status (Pezdirc et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2015). A validated optical approach involves spectroscopy that can detect the carotenoid associated yellow coloration by utilizing a component of the device independent and perceptually uniform Commission International d'Eclairage (CIE) L\*a\*b\* color space where L\* represents lightness, and positive values of a\* and b\* represent red and yellow color saturation, respectively (Alaluf et al., 2002).

Recently, digital image analysis for CIELab color space coloration using a calibrated Nikon camera was successfully used to identify changes in skin yellowing (b\* value) associated with increased carotenoid supplementation (Foo et al., 2017). While the study used various measures of control for image capture in terms of standardized lighting conditions, other modulating imaging variables such as different levels of control or standardization, how much standardization may be necessary and for which parameters, and whether digital imaging using smartphones is feasible, has not been established. Additionally, to our knowledge, digital imaging has not been assessed in relationship to skin spectroscopic measurement of skin coloration.

Skin yellowness, based on the presence of plant pigments in the skin, is associated with greater perceived health and attractiveness (Foo et al., 2017), regardless of race (Whitehead et al., 2012a) or melanin levels (i.e., skin tanning from sun exposure) and surpasses perceived health and attractiveness provided by a skin tan (Stephen et al., 2011; Lefevre & Perrett, 2015). Therefore,

monitoring yellow saturation of the skin could generate motivation to increase FV consumption, by appealing not only to a desire for overall health improvement but also to vanity (Whitehead et al., 2012b). Variations in perceived health and attractiveness have not been assessed over time within individuals over a short duration intervention using a carotenoid-rich food supplementation.

In summary, worldwide FV intake is inadequate and associated with increasing prevalence of NCDs. Carotenoids are plant pigments with antioxidant, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory properties that contribute to the inverse relationship between FV intake and NCDs and serve as a biomarker for FV intake. Recent advances in spectroscopic carotenoid assessment methods have demonstrated skin yellowing from carotenoid supplementation. An increase in perceived health and attractiveness has been linked to the carotenoid associated skin yellowing, regardless of race and melanin content. To date, variations in digital image capture conditions, usage of different devices, and validation against optical methods, as well as intra-individual improvements in perceived health and attractiveness, have not been investigated in a carotenoid-rich food supplement intervention trial.

# **1.2 Thesis Objective**

To investigate whether daily 250 mL supplementation of carrot-based FV juice in healthy male and female young adult subjects over a two-week period is associated with:

- a) increased carotenoid status as assessed by skin yellowness "b" values via: (a) Minolta spectrophotometric analysis; (b) digital skin image analysis with a calibrated Canon camera; and (c) digital skin image analysis with two different types of smartphone cameras;
- b) higher ratings of perceived health and attractiveness.

# Chapter 2

## **Literature Review**

#### 2.1 Fruit and Vegetable (FV) Intake

In 2010, only 0.4% of a sample representing 87% of the world's adult population met United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) dietary guidelines of 4 servings (2 cups) of fruit and 5 servings (2 ½ cups) of vegetables per day, according to a systematic analysis of 204 surveys in 109 countries (Micha et al., 2015). In 2003, according the analysis of the World Health Survey (52 countries), almost 80% of the global population did not meet the World Health Organizations (WHO) minimum recommendation of 5 servings (400 g, 80 g/serving) per day (Hall et al., 2009).

Low FV consumption has been considered as one of the ten most important risk factors for global mortality, contributing to 1.7 million deaths and 16 million disability-adjusted life years worldwide (WHO, 2017). Most prominent dietary risks attributed to the global burden of disease are low FV and high sodium intake (Lim et al., 2012). In that regard, the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) program has demonstrated disease risk factors can be diminished with a focus on unprocessed foods, especially FVs (Harnden et al., 2010). Moreover, malnutrition and hunger can arise from micronutrient deficiencies associated with low FV intake, contributing to a lower quality of life; "dietary adjustments may not only influence present health, but may determine whether or not an individual will develop such diseases as cancer, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes much later in life" (WHO, 2003).

Although FV consumption is lower among developing countries, primarily due to the association between adherence to dietary guidelines and economic stability, North America is still subject to the epidemic of low FV intake (Mazzocchi et al., 2007). In the United States, average

FV intake was 2.5 cups/day according to the data from the What We Eat in America 24-hour recalls and the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey of 2009–2012 (Hoy et al., 2016). These surveys have shown that Americans appear to meet the minimum requirement by the WHO but are consuming under the 4.5 cup/day recommendation of the USDA (Hoy et al., 2016). In Canada, higher levels of education and income are associated with increased FV intake (Azagba & Sharaf, 2011; Dehghan et al., 2011). It is estimated, however, that 70% of the Canadian population consumes inadequate amounts of FVs according to the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) of 2015 (Statistics Canada, 2017), and only 1 in 10 Canadian adolescents (ages 11-17 y) consumes adequate levels (Minaker and Hammond, 2016).

In the 2004 CCHS, about 44% of the Canadian population consumed inadequate amounts of FV's, which signifies that FV intake has reduced over the last decade (Black & Billette, 2011). This latter situation has occurred despite the 2007 Canadian Food Guide recommendation to consume 8-10 and 7-8 servings/day for adult men and women, respectively (Black & Billette, 2011). According to the 2014 CCHS data, the economic burden of inadequate FV intake in Canada is estimated to be \$3.3 billion CAD annually, with direct health-care costs for chronic disease accounting for 30.5% and indirect productivity loss costs accounting for 69.5% (Ekwaru et al., 2017). For the past two decades, researchers have warned of a "nutrition transition", pertaining to trends toward increased consumption of sugar and fat from processed foods with decreased intake of FV, along with an accompanying epidemic of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) (Popkin, 2006). There has been increasing research attention directed towards novel dietary and behavioral approaches to counteract this "nutrition transition".

# 2.2 FV Intake and Non-Communicable Disease (NCD)

A suboptimal diet is one of the leading preventable risk factors for NCDs, with inadequate FV intake accounting for 41% of all dietary risk associated deaths in 2015 (Forouzanfar et al., 2016). While the attributable disease burden of a suboptimal diet in terms of micronutrient deficiencies (i.e., vitamin A, zinc, iron), undernutrition, and suboptimal breastfeeding has declined since 1990, the attributable disease burden for other dietary components have increased, particularly low fruit and low vegetable intake that has accounted for more than 1% of total disability adjust life years (DALYs) (Forouzanfar et al., 2016). DALYs represent the number of years of life lost due to living with disability and premature mortality, generally attributed to NCDs (Kassebaum et al., 2016). Data from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study, a multicenter prospective cohort study with 519,978 participants, has suggested decreased mortality with increased FV consumption due to its inverse association with circulatory, respiratory, and digestive diseases (Leenders et al., 2014).

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the number one cause of global mortality, accounting for 31% of all deaths in 2015, and cancer is the second leading cause of global mortality (WHO, 2017). According to the 2015 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study, numerous prospective studies demonstrate a dose-response of FV intake against various cancers, CVDs, and diabetes mellitus (Forouzanfar et al., 2016). A recent systematic review of 95 prospective studies demonstrated a dose-response of FV intake and decreased relative risk for cardiovascular diseases (CHD, CVD, and stroke), cancer, and all-cause mortality (Aune et al., 2017). There is also evidence supporting such an inverse association pertaining to eye diseases, osteoporosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, dementia, and asthma, according to a comprehensive critical literature review (Boeing et al., 2012). NCDs are a growing global problem with large socioeconomic and health implications and so they need to be addressed more aggressively (WHO, 2015).

#### 2.2.1 Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs)

As the primary cause of death, CVD and its related risk factors have received considerable attention for primary prevention through dietary changes. A significant inverse relationship between FV and hypertension was established in a meta-analysis of 25 observational studies where blood pressure (BP) was measured by trained investigators (Li et al., 2016). The favorable effects of increased FV consumption on CVD were confirmed in a Cochrane review, which partially attributed FV intake to decreases in BP and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) (Hartley et al., 2013). While some studies argue that there is a dose-response of FV intake and decreased risk of CVD (Aune et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2014), the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiological (PURE) study, a study surveying 18 low-, middle-, and high-income countries, has provided evidence to indicate for a maximum plateau of FV intake (500 g/d) towards benefit against the development of CVD (Miller et al., 2017).

#### 2.2.2 Cancer

Progress in some primary prevention efforts and biomedical treatment approaches have led to decreased death from several types of cancers, but the NCD incidence related to cancer is still expected to rise partly due to inadequate primary prevention efforts in some areas such as healthy diet (Fitzmaurice et al., 2017). A review of four meta-analysis studies that analyzed for various dietary components and their influence on different cancers, indicated that fiber, micronutrients (vitamins and minerals), and the antioxidant capacity of the FV aspect of the DASH diet was significantly associated with decreased prevalence of various cancers (Ovani et al., 2015). A doseresponse between FV intake and decreased cancer risk was demonstrated in two separate metaanalysis studies, with an optimal daily FV dosage ranging from 400 g (Wang et al., 2014) to 600 g (dose-response meta-analysis of 95 prospective studies) (Aune et al., 2017).

Not all population studies, however, have demonstrated an inverse association between FV intake and cancer risk. A recent pooled analysis of four Japanese cohort studies demonstrated no association between FV intake and cancer risk (Takachi et al., 2017) and a prospective study on 14,198 Korean males (40-59 y) demonstrated an inverse association with cancer risk with only vegetables (Choi et al., 2015). The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC) study, a prospective cohort study of 23 centers in 10 different European countries, revealed only small reductions in prostate cancer risk (Perez-Cornago et al., 2017), and overall cancer risk (Bofetta et al., 2010) with FV intake. Such inconsistencies may result from the method of FV intake assessment, as food frequency questionnaires are subject to random measurement errors (Choi et al., 2015), different biases (social, recall, etc.) (Wrieden et al., 2003), and may lack follow-up to account for dietary changes (Perez-Cornago et al., 2017), potentially reducing the effect of an association.

#### 2.2.3 Type II Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus, another NCD in the list of top ten causes of global mortality (WHO, 2017), has shown a decreased incidence associated with consumption of specific groups of FVs (Takahashi et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2016). When weight was held constant, greater FV intake up to 7 servings/day for 12 weeks was not associated with an effect on insulin resistance (IR) in 92 overweight individuals at high risk for CVD (Wallace et al., 2013). Conversely, a sample of 417 type 2 diabetic males consuming >150 g daily of FVs over 11 months, especially green FVs, exhibited significant decreases in hemoglobin A1C (Takahashi et al., 2012). A meta-analysis on

10 prospective cohort studies showed a significant decrease in type 2 diabetes risk associated with higher fruit or leafy green vegetable intake (Li et al., 2014). Another meta-analysis, on type 2 diabetes and high or low FV intake in 23 prospective cohort studies, found a similar decreased risk of type 2 diabetes associated with higher consumption of total fruits (especially berries), and green leafy, yellow, and cruciferous vegetables, or FV fibers (Wang et al., 2016). Although plant fiber has been suggested to be a major disease risk-reducing component of FV intake, micronutrients and phytochemicals, such as carotenoids, from FVs may act synergistically to combat risk of disease outcomes (Dahl & Stewart, 2015).

#### 2.2.4 Other Disease Conditions

Greater FV intake is significantly associated with decreased odds of depression in the Canadian population, although the response was attenuated when adjusted for other health-related factors (McMartin et al., 2013; Kingsbury et al., 2015). There is evidence for neuroprotective benefits of polyphenolic compounds from FVs for their antioxidant properties (Parletta et al., 2013). In terms of hip-fracture in older adults, among 5 cohorts from Europe and the United States, a low FV intake ( $\leq$ 1 serving) was associated with a 39% increased risk (Benetou et al., 2016). Servings above recommendations (>5), however, were not associated with decreased risk. Also, a 16-week randomized controlled trial (RCT) demonstrated no influence of FV intake on fasting serum bone markers (Neville et al., 2014).

FV associations with NCD reduction may be partly attributable to the anti-inflammatory properties associated with various phytochemicals. Chronic low-grade inflammation has been associated with an increased chronic disease risk and has been estimated to lead to the development of approximately 20% of all cancer cases (Aran et al., 2016; Mantovani et al., 2008). Plant-based diets, or diets with an emphasis on FV, grains, and legumes, (in the realm of the DASH,

Mediterranean, and Nordic diets) have been associated with decreased levels of chronic low-grade inflammatory biomarkers (Eichelmann et al., 2016; Welty et al., 2016).

#### **2.3 FV Phytochemicals**

While FV intake can prevent several micronutrient deficiency diseases such as scurvy (vitamin C) or birth defects (folate) (Parletta et al., 2013), several other phytochemicals have been attributed to the NCD risk reduction potential of FVs (Shashirekha et al., 2015). Glucosinolates, present in cruciferous vegetables, influence regulation of inflammation and carcinogenesis associated signaling pathways to act as chemopreventative agents (Rodriguez-Casado et al., 2016; Traka et al., 2008). Polyphenolics, such as flavonoids and chlorogenic acid, have been shown to inhibit lipid oxidation, prevent the formation of mutagenic and carcinogenic compounds, exhibit anti-inflammatory properties, and modulate signaling pathways (Shashirekha et al., 2015). In addition to having demonstrated antioxidant (Maiani et al., 2009), anti-inflammatory (Watzl et al., 2005), and anticancer properties (Donaldson, 2011; Gloria et al., 2014), carotenoids exhibit provitamin A activity to prevent irreversible blindness (Sommer et al., 2008) and have been suggested as the best biological markers for FV consumption (National Academy of Sciences, 2000).

## 2.4 Carotenoids

Carotenoids are yellow, orange, and red, fat soluble plant pigments that mammals cannot synthesize de novo and must obtain from the diet (Namitha & Negi, 2010; Vargas-Murga et al., 2016). The pigments are primarily found in yellow-orange FVs and dark green vegetables, where the chlorophyll masks the carotenoid color, present in the plant cell membrane and plasma vacuoles for photooxidative protection (Namitha & Negi, 2010; Maiani et al., 2009). There are six

carotenoids commonly noted in human plasma:  $\alpha$ -carotene and  $\beta$ -carotene, from yellow-orange FVs such as carrots and peppers;  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, predominantly found in citrus fruits; lutein and zeaxanthin, found in deep green vegetables; and lycopene, primarily found in red FVs such as tomato and grapefruit (Burrows et al., 2015; Mainani et al., 2009). Carotenoid content of FVs can be influenced by the type of cultivar, season, geographical and cultivation variation, maturity, and storage (Maiani et al., 2009).

The pigmentation of carotenoids confers photooxidative protection to photosynthetic tissues in plants by absorbing blue/green light, while also acting as a precursor for a stress and developmental modulator (Hounsome et al., 2008). The coloration also serves as a biological signal to attract consumers of fruits and flowers for dispersion of their seeds or pollen (Blount et al., 2009). In animals, the accumulation of carotenoids serves to warn of toxins or sickness, act as camouflage or recognition stimuli, signal status or nutrition within species, and may even serve to attract a mate (Blount et al., 2009; Whitehead et al., 2012c). Some theories suggest carotenoid signaling may have evolved as a result of its nutritional cost of production, communicating the health of the animal, displaying deep and bright colors when carotenoids are in excess (García-de et al., 2015).

Carotenoids are a class of hydrocarbons with 40 carbons in an eight-isoprenoid unit structure (Saini et al., 2015). The characteristic conjugated double bond structure contributes to the capacity of carotenoids for isomerization, singlet oxygen quenching, and electron transfer as a part of their antioxidant properties (Namitha & Negi, 2010; Shmarakov et al., 2013). Some carotenoids can be enzymatically cleaved to produce retinol, servings as a source of provitamin A (Maiani et al., 2009; Shmarakov et al., 2013). There are two groups of carotenoids, the hydrocarbons with an oxygenated functional group known as xanthophylls ( $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, lutein, and zeaxanthin), and the simple hydrocarbons known as carotenes ( $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene,

and lycopene) (Saini et al., 2015; Shmarakov et al., 2013). Due to their hydrocarbon structure, carotenoids are lipophilic (Butnariu, 2017), which contributes to their low bioavailability and complex metabolism (Saini et al., 2015).

#### 2.4.1 Metabolism and Absorption

When FV are consumed, carotenoids are released from the food matrix in the stomach and travel through the duodenum, where they are incorporated into the lipid phase of the meal and are transferred into mixed micelles (Tyssandier et al., 2003). Carotenoid-containing micelles are taken up by enterocytes and then combined with apolipoproteins and incorporated into chylomicrons for transport throughout the body (Nagao, 2014; Saini et al., 2015). Micelle uptake by enterocytes occurs through passive as well as facilitated diffusion. The former method of diffusion acts through a concentration gradient, while the latter is mediated by the same proteins used in cholesterol transport: scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-BI) and cluster determinant 36 (CD36) (Bennekum et al., 2005).

Inside the enterocyte, the carotenoids with provitamin A activity ( $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin) can be processed into various forms of vitamin A through enzymatic cleavage and are packaged into chylomicrons for transport in the serum along with the other carotenoids (Nagao, 2014; Shmarakov et al., 2013). Vitamin A supports the immune system, hormone synthesis, cell growth and differentiation, and plays a role in vision and prevents night blindness (Hounsome et al., 2008). Once absorbed into the serum, carotenoids, along with the cleavage products of provitamin A carotenoids, are transported throughout the body. Absorption, distribution and storage of carotenoids has been suggested to follow the triage concept: transport via serum to cover immediate needs, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) neutralization or vitamin A replenishment, while the carotenoid excess undergoes storage in the liver, adipose tissue, retina (retinal pigment epithelium), and skin to maintain these body systems (Donaldson, 2011; Kiokias et al., 2016; Shmarakov et al., 2013).

The lipophilicity of carotenoids and their incorporation with the lipid phase suggests facilitated carotenoid absorption that is enhanced with dietary fat consumption. Salad consumption with full fat dressing resulted in greater chylomicron carotenoid content than low-fat or fat-free dressed salad consumption (Brown et al., 2004). The increase in carotenoid bioavailability associated with dietary lipids has been attributed primarily to long chain fatty acids since medium chain fatty acids do not induce secretion of the carotenoid-containing chylomicrons (Borel et al., 1998). In addition, the overall interaction of components within both the carotenoid containing food matrix and other dietary components consumed concurrently may also affect carotenoid bioavailability (Faulks & Southon, 2005). For example, lutein was noted to be better absorbed from eggs as compared to from either spinach and lutein supplements when matched for a dosage of 6 mg of lutein/day for nine days in 10 healthy men partaking in a crossover intervention study. This observation was likely due to effects of the food matrix of egg and its accompanying lipid and cholesterol content that could enhance carotenoid bioavailability (Chung et al., 2004).

#### 2.4.2 Bioavailability and Inter-individuality

Differences among plant food matrices in terms of chemical interactions between carotenoids and other food components such as proteins and fiber may affect carotenoid bioavailability and absorption (Maiani et al, 2009). There is a low bioavailability of carotenoids from plant foods, varying from 10% in mangos to <1% in carrots for  $\beta$ -carotene and attributed to the form of  $\beta$ -carotene, whether in liquid crystalline (as in mango and papaya) or solid crystalline form (as in carrots and tomato) (Donhowe & Kong, 2014). Low bioavailability of  $\beta$ -carotene from FVs is also thought to come from the carotene-protein complex and plant cell wall resistance to

digestion and degradation (Rein et al., 2013). Presence of fiber can inhibit absorption, while presences of fats, as well as cooking and processing methods, can increase bioavailability (Maiani et al., 2009). Generally identified by yellow-orange skin discoloration and defined as carotenemia, an excess intake of carotenoids appears to be benign, but high serum carotenoid levels leading to carotenemia can result from diseases linked to changes in carotenoid metabolism in some rare cases (Haught et al., 2007).

When compared to omnivores, vegetarians have 15% greater levels of plasma carotenoids due to their plant-rich diet (Haldar et al., 2007), but greater F&V consumption might not translate into definitive carotenoid status improvement. A great range of inter-individual variation appears to exist for changes in carotenoid status from carotenoid intake, not simply due to dietary habits. A range of no response to an eight-fold increase in serum carotenoids were reported following a six-week supplementation of three forms of a 12 mg dosage of  $\beta$ -carotene, regardless of the source (raw carrots, carrot juice, and purified β-carotene capsules) (Törrönen et al., 1996). In a double tracer study using  $D_6$   $\beta$ -carotene, the area under the curve (AUC) for plasma carotenoid concentration over time varied from 0.01 to 30.00 µmol h/L (Hickenbottom et al., 2002). In a large observational study on 901 male and female adult subjects over four years, inter- and intraindividual variances in carotenoid concentrations were in the range of 61-70% and 20-35%, respectively (Forman et al., 2009). This inter-individual response regarding carotenoid absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion has been demonstrated in some observational studies and proposed to be influenced by several factors: age, alcohol and smoking, asthma, body mass index (BMI), gender, nutrition status, disease, drug intake, physical activity, and race/ethnicity (Bohn et al., 2017).

In support of the sex differences accounting for inter-individual variability, the EPIC study showed that women had higher plasma carotenoid levels than men following investigation of the

quantities of the six carotenoids commonly found in human plasma of 3,043 males and females (Al-Delaimy et al., 2004). Another study reported greater plasma carotenoids in women when compared to men as observed in a series of six different, fully controlled, dietary interventions on a total of 155 men and 109 women (Couillard et al., 2016). On the other hand, studies using accelerated mass spectrometry with labeled doses of  $\beta$ -carotene reported inter-individual differences in absorption, but not differences between females and males (Tang, 2013). Some of the discrepancies may simply be due to imprecise or differing measurement methods or could be dependent on the dosage and metabolism kinetics (Faulks & Southon, 2005).

Carotenoid absorption inter-individuality not only appears to be influenced by sex, but also disease, lifestyle habits, and genetic variation (Bohn et al., 2017). There are a variety of aspects that appear to affect the processes of carotenoid digestion ranging from mastication, decreasing particle size, genes or diseases related to digestive enzymes or bile production (i.e., Crohn's disease) that could influence carotenoid bioaccessibility (i.e., release from food matrix and availability for absorption) (Bohn et al., 2017). Following absorption and digestive enzyme processing, several transport proteins found on the apical membrane of the enterocytes (SR-B1, CD36, NPC1L1) and carotenoid cleavage proteins in the enterocytes (BCO1 and BCO2) have single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that have been reported to explain upwards of 50% of the absorption variability for various carotenoids (Bohn et al., 2017). Nutritional factors, such as host vitamin A status, are thought to serve as a negative feedback loop (Lobo et al., 2013). Differences in iron, zinc, and protein status have also demonstrated to lead to variability in β-carotene status (Bohn et al., 2017).

One of the more recent explanations for the variability in carotenoid absorption has been related to inter-individual variations in the diversity of gut microbiota, which could affect carotenoid absorption. It has been estimated that, depending on the food matrix, a range of 5-50%

of carotenoids are absorbed in the small intestine with the remaining carotenoids accessing the colon (Bohn et al., 2017; Saura-Calixto et al., 2007). A bioaccessibility model involving *in-vitro* enzymatic digestion and colonic fermentation of plant foods using rat cecal content reported an increase in lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene release following colonic fermentation, which could allow for enhanced carotenoid bioavailability (Goñi et al., 2009). A recent analysis of colonic biopsies from 76 healthy subjects at risk of colon cancer demonstrated higher bacterial diversity together with a reduction in Firmicutes and increase in Proteobacteria was associated with higher plasma carotenoid concentrations (Djuric et al., 2018). Firmicutes are generally associated with the high-fat Western-diet and obesity (Musso et al., 2010). Thus, the suggestion has been put forward that greater bacterial diversity with a gut microbiome profile associated with health promoting properties also leads to improved bioavailability of carotenoids.

The gut microbiome relationship with carotenoid absorption has been related to phytoene dehydrogenase (phytoene desaturase), which catalyzes a consecutive reaction to the rate limiting step of carotenoid biosynthesis (Tian, 2016). Phytoene dehydrogenase is an enzyme found in thousands of plants and bacteria that is responsible for the conjugated double bond structure of carotenoids, with the number of desaturation steps completed upon the precursor, phytoene, designating the color of the carotenoid produced (Umeno, Tobias, & Arnold, 2005). It has therefore been suggested that the presence of phytoene desaturase enzyme manifesting bacteria would increase carotenoid microbial biosynthesis. A study assessing the gut metagenome of patients with symptomatic atherosclerosis reported elevated plasma  $\beta$ -carotene concentrations and enriched phytoene dehydrogenase in age and gender matched healthy controls (Karlsson et al., 2012). It was suggested that greater abundance of the phytoene dehydrogenase gene sequence in the gut microbe metagenome of healthy controls may indicate greater production and bioavailability of  $\beta$ -carotene by the gut microbiota (Karlsson et al., 2012).

# 2.4.3 A Valid Biomarker of FV

Since up to 90% of the carotenoids are obtained through consumption of FV, serum concentrations of these plant pigments are an indicator of FV intake (Maiani et al., 2009). A systematic review of FV biomarkers in 96 human intervention studies demonstrated that carotenoids and vitamin C were the most common and most consistently responsive FV biomarkers (Baldrick et al., 2011). A dose-dependent increase of plasma carotenoid status was demonstrated when 63 nonsmoking males underwent an RCT where they consumed a low FV diet (2 servings/day) for four weeks, and then were randomized into a low, medium (5 servings/day) and high (8 servings/day) FV diet for four more weeks (Watzl et al., 2005). A systematic review of validation studies on plasma carotenoid levels as biomarkers for dietary carotenoid consumption concluded that despite weak (0.26) to moderate (0.47) correlations, the correlations need to be considered with respect to adiposity, infection, behavioral aspects (i.e., smoking) and differences in absorption and digestion (Burrows et al., 2015). The authors suggested that skin carotenoid concentrations were a potentially better measure of overall carotenoid status.

Albeit delayed by at least two weeks after carotenoid consumption, skin carotenoid concentrations are positively correlated with serum concentrations (Jahns et al., 2014; Stahl et al., 1998). Carotenoids are deposited at higher concentrations in skin regions with higher density of sweat glands, such as the palms, soles of the feet, and forehead, because they are transported to the epidermis through sweat and reabsorbed into the skin (Lademann et al., 2011). This mechanism of skin carotenoid deposition was first proposed by Lademann et al. (2009) after detection of differential carotenoid content at different depths of the stratum corneum as measured by Raman spectroscopy. The authors proposed sebaceous transport of carotenoids to the surface of the skin

followed by penetration into the stratum corneum since such penetration characteristics had previously been observed with tocopherol (Thiele et al., 1999).

Serum carotenoid levels have also been inversely associated with NCDs (Namitha & Negi, 2010). A positive dose-response relationship has been noted between serum carotenoid concentrations and NCD prevention according to the Carotenoid Health Index, which was developed using 62 studies composed primarily of prospective cohort and case control studies examining the relation between plasma carotenoid content and health outcomes (Donaldson, 2011). Five cutoff points of serum carotenoid concentrations associated with varying levels of risk for NCDs were established (Donaldson, 2011). Raw-food dieters, consuming FV, nuts, and seeds as 95% of their diet, exhibit favorable plasma carotenoid concentrations with respect to such recommendations for NCD prevention (Garcia et al., 2008).

# 2.4.4 Benefits against NCDs

Primarily known for their antioxidant effects and provitamin A activity, carotenoids have been associated with disease prevention regarding cardiovascular disease (Iversen et al., 2014), cancer (World Cancer, 2007), diabetes mellitus (Mirmiran et al., 2016), metabolic syndrome (Holt et al., 2014), eye health (Mares, 2016), overall mortality (Zhao et al., 2016), and may even have anti-osteoporotic (Hayhoe et al., 2017) and cognitive (Kesse-Guyot et al., 2014) benefits (Donaldson, 2011). A study investigating epigenetic biomarkers of age related to mortality and chronic disease conditions such as NCDs found that blood carotenoid levels had the greatest significant association with extrinsic epigenetic age acceleration, a measure of intrinsic and extrinsic aging factors in 4,173 post-menopausal women of the Women's Health Initiative and 402 male and females from an Italian cohort study (Invecchiare nel Chianti) (Quach et al., 2016). Carotenoid health benefits have largely been indicated from observational studies, which have suggested a strong synergistic effect between carotenoids and other FV constituents (Wang et al., 2013). Synergistic effects between carotenoids and other antioxidants have been noted at low concentrations in vitro, such as a combination of 2.5  $\mu$ M zeaxanthin and 0.1 mM of  $\alpha$ tocopherol that effectively protected against singlet oxygen-mediated lipid photoperoxidation by almost two-fold more than 2.5  $\mu$ M zeaxanthin alone, just above two-fold more than  $\alpha$ -tocopherol alone, and greater than two-fold above the control (Wrona et al., 2003). A separate study exploring different combinations of four antioxidants (lycopene,  $\beta$ -carotene, and vitamins C and E) demonstrated that specific different concentrations and combinations of mixed antioxidants can be more effective than corresponding single antioxidants when assessed using a 2,2 diphenyl -1picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) free radical scavenging capacity assay (Liu et al., 2008). One review concluded that physiological levels of carotenoids and mixtures of antioxidants obtained from an average FV intake are associated with positive health influence as opposed to doses of a single extracted or synthetic carotenoid (Darvin et al., 2006).

Some experimental studies using carotenoid supplementation in pill form ( $\beta$ -carotene extract), alone or accompanied with other antioxidants and micronutrients, have not demonstrated a considerable influence on various types of cancers (Druesne-Pecollo et al., 2010; Nagao et al., 2015; Wright et al., 2007), while some pro-oxidant effects of synthetic or extracted carotenoids have been observed, primarily with  $\beta$ -carotene (Galan et al., 2005; Omenn et al., 1996; The Alpha-tocopherol, Beta-carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, 1994). Pro-oxidant effects are suggested to be caused by large doses of a single antioxidant as opposed to health benefit from physiologically appropriate antioxidant dosages obtained from FVs in the diet (Palozza et al., 2003). Pro-carcinogenic effects of  $\beta$ -carotene seem to be primarily evident at dosages far exceeding dietary intake levels at dosages of 20 mg (The Alpha-tocopherol, Beta-carotene Cancer

Prevention Study Group, 1994) or 30 mg (Omenn et al., 1996) in contrast to established typical intake of 2-6 mg/day for  $\beta$ -carotene based on six 24-hour dietary recalls over 18 months of a subsample (3128 subjects) from the SU.VI.MAX study (Galan et al., 2005).

### 2.4.3.1 Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)

There is accumulating evidence for FV-associated carotenoid intake and decreased risk of CVD and associated conditions. After adjustment for age, smoking, and other confounding factors, a significant inverse association between the highest intakes of  $\alpha$ -carotene (1518 µg/day) and  $\beta$ carotene (7639 µg/day), and the risk of coronary artery disease was demonstrated in a group of over 70,000 women, ages 30-55, over a 12 year follow up-period as a part of the Nurses' Health Study (Osganian et al., 2003). Another cohort study of 573 middle-aged individuals free of CVD symptoms at baseline and monitored over 18 months found a significantly inverse relation between atherosclerotic progression and lutein, zeaxanthin,  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, and  $\alpha$ -carotene, after adjusting for age, sex, smoking, CRP, and other cardiac risk factors (Dwyer et al., 2004). A pureed FV drink providing  $\geq$  5mg of total carotenoids given daily for 6 weeks to 39 volunteers between 30 and 70 years of age significantly increased plasma  $\alpha$ -carotene and  $\beta$ -carotene concentrations and was concurrently associated with endothelium-dependent dilation, a measure of vascular tone (George et al., 2012). An increase in plasma carotenoid concentrations was associated with activity of the HDL antioxidant modulating enzymes, paraoxonase-1 (PON-1) and lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) in the serum of 80 obese subjects with type 2 diabetes between the ages of 40 and 70 y following 8 weeks of  $\geq$ 6 servings of FVs, which indicated carotenoid-mediated anti-atherogenic effects (Daniels et al., 2014).

Carotenoids have been implicated with anti-CVD and stroke properties (Raposo & Morais, 2015). CVD is characterized by oxidative stress that promotes endothelial dysfunction, lipid

peroxidation, and inflammation that can generate oxidation of low-density lipoprotein and foam cell formation that can lead to atherosclerosis (Wang et al., 2013). Lycopene is considered the strongest ROS quencher of the carotenoids due to its highly conjugated, long chain structure and has been associated with decreased LDL oxidation, oxidative stress at possible plaque sites, and lipoprotein sensitivity to oxidative damage (Hadley et al., 2003; Namitha & Negi, 2010). A group of participants from the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults study (4580, 18-30 year old African American and Caucasian participants) selected for an ancillary study called the Young Adult Longitudinal Trends in Antioxidants Study, which monitored for various serum markers of CVD over 15 years. This study established an inverse association with plasma carotenoids analyzed at years 0 and 7 with inflammatory, endothelial, and oxidative stress biomarkers including: C-reactive protein (CRP), soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM1), leukocytes, fibrinogen, and F2-isoprostanes; a positive association with serum superoxide dismutase was also observed (Hozawa et al., 2007).

Stroke and other related conditions have also demonstrated an inverse association with carotenoid intake. An enhanced dietary intervention plan consisting of energy, protein, and antioxidants (15 mg vitamin C, 9 mg vitamin E, and 300  $\mu$ g carotenoids per 100 ml of oral sip feedings) was associated with a decreased mortality risk in 165 hospitalized acute stroke patients >65 years old following 5-7 years post-intervention (Ha et al., 2011; Iversen et al., 2014). The risk of ischemic heart disease and stroke increased with low dietary carotenoid status (< 0.23  $\mu$ mol/l) and/or vitamin C (22.7  $\mu$ mol/l) in a 12 year follow up of 2974 male patients of the Basel Prospective Study (Gey et al., 1993). In a comprehensive review on dietary antioxidants and stroke, most observational studies inversely associated stroke risk with β-carotene, α-carotene, and lycopene intake, while experimental studies failed to reduce risk of stroke through carotenoid supplementation (Cherubini et al., 2008). Such evidence supports the idea that supplementation of

individual carotenoids does not have the same protective influence as consumption of FVs, as there is a synergistic effect of antioxidants and bioactive phytochemicals when entire foods are consumed (Raposo & Morais, 2015).

#### 2.4.3.2 Cancer

Cancer is an uncontrolled upregulation of cellular growth from mutations in genes that regulate cell cycle control (World Cancer, 2007). Cancerous cells are virtually deficient in cell-to-cell communication contributing to the uncontrolled growth in early development (Aasen et al., 2016; Bertram & Vine, 2005). Dietary intake of carotenoids may be protective against cancer development by cell proliferation inhibition via cell-to-cell communication modulation (Aasen et al., 2016; Bertram & Vine, 2005), or by affecting gap junctions (Bertram & Vine, 2005; Stahl et al., 1997) and estrogen receptors (Prakash et al., 2001), as well as inhibition of oxidative stress (Fiedor & Burdam 2014).

A possible pro-oxidative influence of carotenoids, eventually leading to increased risk of cancer, has been tested in RCTs for  $\beta$ -carotene. In a multicenter RCT, when 30 mg of  $\beta$ -carotene and 25,000 IU of retinol were administered daily to a randomly selected treatment group from 18,314 smokers, former smokers, and workers exposed to asbestos for a mean duration of 4 years, the relative risk for lung cancer (1.28) and overall mortality (1.17) was higher in the treatment group than the placebo group (Omenn et al., 1996). In another intervention RCT, 29,133 male smokers (ages 50-69) were randomly assigned to groups administered daily supplementation of 50 mg alpha-tocopherol, 20 mg  $\beta$ -carotene, both alpha-tocopherol and  $\beta$ -carotene, or a placebo, and those receiving only  $\beta$ -carotene exhibited a higher incidence of lung cancer than those who did not (The Alpha-tocopherol, Beta-carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, 1994). These studies demonstrate the importance of physiologically appropriate dosages due to the pro-oxidative

capacity of large amounts of a single antioxidant, such as  $\beta$ -carotene, or few (i.e. alpha-tocopherol and  $\beta$ -carotene) antioxidants alone (Palozza et al., 2003), in contrast to the synergistic antioxidant protection provided by low dosages of antioxidants including carotenoids (Lademann et al., 2011).

An inverse association of breast cancer risk and consumption of  $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene,  $\beta$ crytoxanthin, and lutein and zeaxanthin, was demonstrated in a case-control study using a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) on 561 cases and 561 respective controls of Chinese women (25-70 years old) with breast cancer (Wang et al., 2014). A similar inverse association was demonstrated between lung cancer and  $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene, and total carotenoid levels in a meta-analysis based on 17 prospective studies (Abar et al., 2016). Greater intake of high  $\beta$ crytoxanthin containing citrus fruits had an inverse association with lung cancer risk after a pooled analysis of seven cohort studies that estimated carotenoid intake from dietary questionnaires, even after adjusting for vitamin C content, folate, multivitamins, and other carotenoids (Männistö et al., 2004). Carotenoids that had been significantly associated with decreased lung cancer risk were no longer associated after adjusting for total FV intake in a case-control study with 587 primary cases and 624 controls, which suggests synergistic relationships of FV phytochemicals (Wright et al, 2003). Although evidence concerning putative carotenoid anti-cancer effects is still controversial, some authors have nonetheless suggested that there is probable evidence of benefits from carotenoid intake similar to that of intake of whole FVs (Boeing et al., 2012).

#### 2.4.3.3 Diabetes

Type 2 diabetes involves the dysregulation of glycemic control and oxidative stress, often leading to vascular complications (Martini et al., 2010). Carotenoid supplementation alone is not recommended, as intervention trial evidence to date regarding carotenoid supplementation has not established strong associations between supplementation and type 2 diabetes (American Diabetes Association, 2007). In an RCT with over 22,000 healthy physicians, aged 40-84 years from 1982-1995, supplementation with 50 mg of  $\beta$ -carotene on alternate days did not establish a reduction of diabetes risk (Liu et al., 1999).

On the other hand, observational trials examining carotenoid intake from FV consumption in relation to Type 2 diabetes have demonstrated more positive results. The Epidemiology of Vascular Aging study, studying 1,389 participants aged 59-71 years old over nine years, found a significantly decreased risk of dysglycemia in participants of the quartile with the highest plasma carotenoid levels, even after controlling for sociodemographic variables, lifestyle habits, CVD, BP, BMI, and lipid profile (Akbaraly et al., 2008). In the Tehran Glucose and Lipid Study, where 1106 men and women aged 19-74 years were monitored for fasting serum insulin and glucose with an FFQ at baseline and three years later, higher  $\beta$ -carotene and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin intake was associated with 58% and 49% decreased risk of IR, respectively (Mirmiran et al., 2016). A marginal inverse association was found between  $\alpha$ -carotene and IR. Higher skin carotenoid levels measured by Raman spectroscopy have been associated with lower incidence of metabolic syndrome in 155 patients (mean age of 54 years) referred to a dietician for dietary assessment (Holt et al., 2014). More human trial studies are required to firmly establish the relationship between carotenoid intake and diabetes risk, but their contribution to FV associated decreases in diabetes risk has received validation (American Diabetes Association, 2007).

# 2.4.3.4 Inflammation and Oxidative Stress

Carotenoids have demonstrated immune system modulating effects, including suppression of pro-inflammatory events. Carotenoids can increase immune factors such as monocytes, white blood cells, T-helper cells, and lymphocytes associated with immune system responsiveness to infection and oxidative stress (Boileau et al., 1999; Hughes et al., 1997). CRP, a non-specific indicator of the inflammatory response that is closely correlated with cardiovascular disease risk, demonstrated an inverse association with  $\alpha$ -carotene and  $\beta$ -carotene intake in an RCT of 63 nonsmoking males subject to 4 weeks of low (2 servings/day) FV intake followed by randomization into a low, medium (5 servings/day) and high (8 servings/day) (Watzl et al., 2005). Participants consuming 8 FV servings/day for the following four weeks of the study showed significantly increased plasma carotenoids and decreased CRP concentrations as compared to 2 or 5 servings/day (Watzl et al., 2005). Preterm infants given diets with added lutein, lycopene, and  $\beta$ -carotene showed decreased CRP values together with maturation and protective effects on retina health (Rubin et al., 2012).

While some studies have demonstrated an inverse relationship between carotenoid intake and CRP and other inflammatory markers, there exists controversy. A study assessing the influence of a three-week carrot juice intervention (8 ounces/day) on 69 overweight breast cancer survivors found an increase in total plasma carotenoids and reduced oxidative stress but no influence was noted on inflammatory biomarkers including high-sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (hsCRP), thromboxane B2, and prostaglandin E2 (Butalla et al., 2012). In a three-dose (2, 5, and 10 daily FV servings) crossover feeding trail of 49 overweight or obese women with four week washout periods between three week intervention periods, increased FV intake led to increased plasma carotenoids, but the FV treatment did not exert a significant influence on inflammatory biomarkers or oxidative stress markers including hsCRP, 8-isoprostane F2 $\alpha$  (8-iso-PGF2), and hexanoyl lysine (Crane et al., 2011). As the above studies have examined individuals with disease conditions over short periods of time (three weeks), their findings may not be of sufficient duration or necessarily be applicable to healthy individuals (Donaldson, 2011).

In general, stronger associations have been observed examining the antioxidant properties of FV-derived carotenoids in comparison to supplementation of synthetic carotenoids. A negative
correlation was established between baseline carotenoid levels and lymphocyte DNA damage in 40 healthy, non-smoking volunteers aged 25-45, but supplementation of 15 mg/day of carotenoids did not have a significant influence on endogenous oxidative damage (Collins et al., 1998). Conversely, in a study where only FV and eggs accounted for variations of carotenoid intake, determined by FFQs quantified by the USDA nutrient file, intake of lutein plus zeaxanthin,  $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene, and total carotenoids exhibited a significant inverse association with oxidative stress markers, 8-iso-PGF2 and 8-hydroxy-2'-hydroxyguanosine (8-OHdG), determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay on urine samples of 296 healthy men aged 40-59 years (Cocate et al., 2015). Such studies suggest an emphasis on the synergistic properties of carotenoids and FV components (Palazzo et al, 2003), and how they participate in an antioxidant protection chain (Darvin et al., 2011; Lademann et al., 2011).

## 2.4.3.5 Eye and Neurological Diseases

Some human trial evidence has suggested that lutein and zeaxanthin exert protective effects for eye health, which could be partly mediated through ROS quenching photo-protection (Namitha & Negi, 2010; Mares, 2016). When supplemented with 20 mg lutein or 10 mg lutein plus 10 mg zeaxanthin per day for 48 weeks, 107 subjects aged 50-79 exhibited a decreased risk of development of age-related macular degeneration (AMD) as assessed by increased macular pigment optical density (MPOD) and best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA) (Ma et al., 2012). MPOD has previously been inversely associated with AMD (Bone et al., 2001; Nolan et al., 2010). Addition of other antioxidants (15mg vitamin E, 150 mg vitamin C) and minerals (20 mg zinc and 0.4mg copper) to a supplementation of 12 mg lutein and 0.6 mg zeaxanthin resulted in a slower progression of AMD in the treatment group of 433 subjects aged  $\geq$ 55, suggesting synergistic effects with other antioxidants (Beatty et al., 2013). When analyzing the ROS scavenging mechanism of macular pigment in post-mortem human macula and retinal pigment epithelium, an equal ratio of lutein, zeaxanthin, and meso-zeaxanthin (a metabolite of zeaxanthin) acted synergistically to quench more singlet oxygen than any individual carotenoid (Li et al., 2010).

In addition, lutein and zeaxanthin have demonstrated neuroprotective and antiinflammatory effects together with their well-established antioxidant effects regarding diabetic retinopathy in vivo (Neelam et al., 2017). Following a comparison of type 1 and type 2 diabetics, and normal healthy subjects (n=150, age 30-75), type 2 diabetes was associated with decreased MPOD with no difference in carotenoid intake suggesting carotenoids were not influential in this case (Scanlon et al., 2015). Cataract research has demonstrated a reduction in risk of the condition through carotenoid-rich FV intake, though the bioactive carotenoid components of FV such as lutein and zeaxanthin are difficult to isolate in such observational studies (Mares, 2016). Other conditions such as glaucoma and retinopathy have shown controversial results with respect to carotenoids, requiring further study (Mares, 2016).

The increase in carotenoids conferred by diets high in FVs, as well as increases in bioavailability from fat intake with meals (Brown et al., 2004), may account for the eye health protection associated with the Mediterranean diet, which was indicated after monitoring 4753 men and women aged  $\geq 65$  years for their Mediterranean diet score and neovascular AMD (Hogg et al., 2017). Additionally, supplementation of 10 mg lutein and/or 10 mg zeaxanthin in 34 men aged 18-40 y presented an increased MPOD and a potential to improve the contrast acuity threshold (CAT) for better visual acuity under low lighting conditions (Kvansakul et al., 2006). Following a review of the literature, there is accumulating evidence that suggests protective effects of carotenoid-rich FV, particularly those rich in lutein and zeaxanthin, on vision-related NCD (Mares, 2016). This suggestion is supported by an analysis of carotenoids in the serum of 175 men and 174 women

aged 25-45 y from five European countries, demonstrating that a high FV diet was associated with elevated lutein, zeaxanthin,  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, and xanthophyll levels (Olmedilla et al., 2001).

In summary, although carotenoids by themselves may not demonstrate a clear protection against some NCDs, they do serve as an indicator of FVs protective potential (Baldrick et al., 2011) in the 'network' of antioxidants and other anti-cancer, and anti-inflammatory FV components (Darvin et al., 2006). A change in diet and lifestyle may result in a lasting beneficial effect of increased antioxidants integrated in the diet through greater FV consumption (Takahashi et al., 2006), whereas supplementation of individual FV components alone may not be sustainable. Reduction in chronic disease risk and overall mortality resulting from antioxidant supplement intake (120 mg Vitamin C, 30 mg Vitamin E, 6 mg  $\beta$ -carotene, 100 µg selenium, and 20 mg zinc) in the SU.VI.MAX study disappeared 5 years post-intervention in 12,741 French adults (Hercberg et al., 2010). The unique photo-protective characteristics of carotenoids make them relatively easy to distinguish through various methods of assessment, allowing for more objective measures of FV intake (Mayne et al., 2013). Given the therapeutic potential of carotenoids against various NCD's, their association with FV intake and NCD prevention, and their role in acting as a biomarker for FV intake, a rapid and assessible method for carotenoid assessment would be of great value.

## 2.5 Common Methods of Carotenoid Assessment

There are various methods of assessment for human carotenoid status. The most common are the convenient and economical self-administered questionnaires for FV intake, which are used in most of the observational studies that establish associations between FVs and NCDs that are then compared to a nutrient database for carotenoid quantification (Woodside et al., 2017). The more specific and gold standard assessment of carotenoid status is the invasive, complex, and expensive high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method that measures carotenoid levels in tissue or blood samples (Zidichouski et al., 2009). Recent developments include non-invasive optical detection of skin carotenoids through analysis of the refraction/reflection of light from the unique carotenoid chemical structure (Whigham & Redelfs, 2015).

### 2.5.1 Self-administered Questionnaires

FFQs are one of the most convenient and cost-effective methods of dietary assessment, although they have shown a poor correlation with the more specific and time consuming 24-hour recalls and food diaries, but all questionnaires have inherent drawbacks (Forouzanfar et al., 2016; Willet, 2012). Food diaries and 24-hour recalls are based on food and amount consumed by an individual on one or several days while an FFQ involves questions that ask how often and how much of specific foods are consumed in a given period (Willet, 2012). Serving size demonstrations with images or models improve participant perception of general portion sizes for FFQs, but recall bias (i.e., the subject's ability to remember) and the tendency to over-report healthy foods, such as FVs, are innate weaknesses in these methods (Willet, 2012; Wrieden et al., 2003). While more practical in use, producing FFQs can take time as they should be developed for the specific study population and aims, considering differences in ethnicity, culture, social and economic status, etc. (Teufel, 1997).

Although FFQs are not very specific and are less accurate than food recalls and records, this quick cost-effective tool gives an overall measure of diet quality and has been validated for FV in various populations and for particular food components including carotenoids (Traynor et al., 2006; Zamora-Ros et al., 2012). Moreover, the FFQ serves as a comprehensive assessment for overall dietary components that may act as confounders in relation to study objectives. Thus, FFQ's can give a greater context to the more objective, accurate, complex, and expensive

biomarker assessments available (Shim et al., 2014; Zamora-Ros et al., 2012). More modern iterations of dietary assessment have evolved to include image-assisted (i.e., before and after meal pictures) and image-based automatic food identification, along with nutrient and energy estimations based on meal images in an attempt to reduce dietary assessment limitations (Boushey et al., 2016).

## 2.5.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

The current gold standard for carotenoid assessment is HPLC analysis, but it has its own drawbacks (Zidichouski et al., 2009). While this method is more accurate and objective than questionnaires, accounting for bioavailability and metabolism as it is directly measuring biomarkers, this method requires blood or tissue samples, expensive equipment, and the technical understanding to interpret results correctly (Zamora-Ros et al., 2012). After samples are processed to release biomarkers and various other food components with similar chemical properties from the sample, they are separated by HPLC based on intrinsic structural and chemical differences (Kupiec, 2004). The processed samples are flushed through a stationary phase within a mobile phase, typically together with varying solvent concentrations, which allow the sample molecules with different affinities for the stationary phase to separate at distinctive time points as the mobile phase slowly changes concentrations of its constituents (Scott, 1986). Different liquid phases or elution times can aid in the separation of the molecules over time, and then a detector (i.e., UV, fluorescence, etc.) responds to changes that are indicative of individual molecules (Jahns et al., 2014; Scott, 1986).

While both blood and skin samples can be used depending on the method of extraction (Zamora-Ros et al., 2012), a study monitoring 155 men and 109 women for their daily FV intake and plasma carotenoid concentrations found positive relationships between plasma  $\beta$ -

cryptoxanthin, lutein and zeaxanthin and daily FV servings, but found a negative association for  $\alpha$ -carotene and lycopene (Couillard et al., 2016). Such studies have indicated that plasma carotenoid concentrations may not be the most robust biomarker of FV intake (Couillard et al., 2016). The authors suggest that  $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene, and lycopene could simply be more sensitive to specific FV categories, while  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin and lutein, two of the more yellow carotenoids (Chandra et al., 2012), may be better indicators of overall FV intake (Couillard et al., 2016). Measurement of blood plasma and serum carotenoids has been suggested as not sensitive enough as opposed to isotopic labeling, such as is used for retinoid measurements, that could provide more insight on carotenoid kinetics (Bohn et al., 2017). One method used to ensure greater sensitivity, in tandem with HPLC, is mass spectrometry, due to its high molecular specificity, detection sensitivity, and dynamic range (Dass, 2007).

# 2.5.3 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS)

LC-MS is a method that utilizes the physical separation capability of liquid chromatography (HPLC) with the greater sensitivity of mass analysis for a synergistically enhanced measurement capability (Dass, 2007). Following separation of a sample by liquid chromatography, the sample moves through the interface, which removes most of the mobile phase while transferring the maximum amount of the desired sample without degrading ionizing efficiency or influencing the vacuum system, and is transported to the mass spectrometer (Dass, 2007). Once entering the mass spectrometer, the sample goes through chemical or electron ionization and the mass analyzer separates the ions based on their mass to charge ratio before mass analysis and passing them onto the detector that measures and amplifies the ionic current (Dass, 2007). A computer processes, records, and stores the data while a vacuum system maintains a very low pressure to prevent the ions from colliding or interacting with other species (Dass, 2007).

LC-MS has been used to quantify vegetable (Mokhtar et al., 2016) as well as serum carotenoid content (Zhu et al., 2006). One challenge when using LC-MS for carotenoid analysis is that reagents necessary for extraction and good resolution can be incompatible with MS, but recent developments have demonstrated the use of LC-MS friendly conditions that can simplify and quicken the procedure (Abate-Paella et al., 2017). LC-MS methods have been successfully used to quantitatively profile four carotenoids along with six fat soluble vitamins in plant foods, demonstrating the high level of sensitivity provided by this method (Gentili & Caretti, 2010).

## 2.5.4 Resonance Raman Spectrophotometry

Resonance Raman Spectroscopy (RRS) has emerged as a valid, highly reproducible, and reliable noninvasive method of assessment for skin carotenoids (Mayne et al., 2013) when compared with HPLC skin sample analysis and for intraclass correlation (Mayne et al., 2010). Carotenoid uptake and depletion kinetics have also been measured successfully with RSS, demonstrating validity with changes in FV intake when compared to serum HPLC analysis (Jahns et al., 2014). The conjugated double bond structure of carotenoids makes them particularly well suited for RRS, as the double bonds (C=C), single bonds (C-C), and methyl group bonds (C-CH<sub>3</sub>) exhibit specific spectral lines at discrete frequencies that are downshifted by the laser excitation and backscattered light is then detected by a spectrograph/CCD (charge coupled device – set of sensors that respond to red, green, and blue light) array combination (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Whigham & Redelf, 2015). Raman scattered or inelastically reflected light, corresponds exactly to the vibrational and rotational energy transition the carotenoid molecules experience when excited by a laser (Hata et al., 2000; Whigham & Redelf, 2015). RRS exhibited less intra-individual variability than serum HPLC analysis for carotenoid concentrations in 372 healthy subjects that provided three blood samples (48 h between each) and RRS skin carotenoid measurements over 8

days (Zidichouski et al., 2009). While RRS is highly specific and sensitive, allowing for selective detection of carotenoids, it has a weak signal, can be attenuated by the strong absorbing and scattering melanin chromophore present in the skin, and requires expensive and complex instrumentation and external calibration (Ermakov et al., 2001; Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Whigham & Redelf, 2015).

## 2.5.5 Reflectance Spectrophotometry (RS)

A reflectance spectrophotometer uses a broad "white light" source as the standard illuminant along with a collection module that relates the absorption at a specific spectral location to the measured reflectivity (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2012; Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Konica Minolta, 2007). The machine determines the carotenoid absorbance and can calculate the difference between absorbance at 480 nm and 610 nm to disregard the background tissue absorbance (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2012; Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015). The drawbacks of the method are lower molecular specificity and overall sensitivity when compared to RRS (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Konica Minolta Sensing Inc, 2007).

RS has been widely used to measure one of the tri-stimulus CIELab color space values (b\*) that ranges from yellow (+) to blue (-), as an indicator of carotenoid levels (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Foo et al., 2017; Li et al., 2013; Pathare et al., 2013; Pezdirc et al., 2015; Pezdirc et al., 2016; Stephen et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2015; Whigham & Redelf, 2015). CIElab color space values are derived from the device independent yet perceptually different XYZ color space, coming from the device dependent and perceptually different RGB color space, to produce a device independent and perceptually uniform color space (Mendoza et al., 2006; Pathare et al. 2013). The L\* value is a measure of luminance ranging from 0 (black) to 100 (white); the a\* value is a measure of green

(-120) to red (120) coloration; the b\* value is a measure of blue (-120) to yellow (120) coloration (Mendoza et al., 2006).

The accurate representation of CIELab color space values from RS can be applied to various contexts. Quality of various fresh and processed foods has been verified through standardized illuminant photo imaging and CIELab color processing for carotenoid content (Li et al., 2013; Pathare et al., 2013). Differences between RS values of the back of the hand and the palm were determined in a 12-week supplementation trial (24 mg  $\beta$ -carotene/day from Betatene, an algal extract) as increasing by 17-fold and 2.2-fold, respectively; the palm RS measures correlated best with serum levels assessed by HPLC analysis (r = 0.94), proving spectrophotometry as an effective assessment for the FV biomarker (Stahl et al., 1998).

CIELab b\* (yellow) values of the skin have become widely used for their association with increased carotenoid concentration attributed to the plant pigment's yellow-orange hue (Pathare et al., 2013; Pezdirc et al., 2015; Pezdirc et al., 2016; Stephen et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2015). Human skin b\* values have been positively associated with the skin carotenoid increase seen following greater FV consumption (Pezdirc et al., 2015; Pezdirc et al., 2016; Stephen et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2015). A randomized crossover trial of 30 women found significantly greater skin yellowness and plasma carotenoid concentrations in women consuming a high carotenoid FV diet (~25 mg  $\beta$ -carotene/day) when compared to a low carotenoid FV diet (~0.25 mg  $\beta$ -carotene/day from mainly white vegetables and legumes) for four weeks (Pezdirc et al., 2016). Another RCT demonstrated a significant increase in yellow (b\*) coloration of the skin of 81 Malaysian students following consumption of carotenoid-rich FV smoothies (~20-30 mg total carotenoids/day) for six weeks when compared to mineral water (Tan et al., 2015).

Spectrophotometry has demonstrated effective detection of carotenoid associated yellow coloration (b\*) following supplementation as well. In an 8-week intervention trial, skin b\* values

not only increased with greater FV intake measured by FFQ in 82 Caucasian participants, but also increased with 15 mg supplementation of  $\beta$ -carotene/day in 10 participants (Stephen et al., 2011). Another study found significant increases in b\* values following capsulated  $\beta$ -carotene supplementation of 15 mg/day over 8 weeks in 10 black African women (Coetzee & Perrett, 2014). The validation of spectrophotometrically determined carotenoid status by b\* values has led to the exploration of a less-expensive, possibly more convenient, optical method of skin carotenoid assessment.

# 2.5.6 Digital Image Analysis

Assuming conditions during measurement are standardized, CIELab color space will maintain an objective and consistent value that can be compared whether measured or displayed by a spectrophotometer or camera (Mendoza et al. 2006). In a recent double-blind RCT, Foo et al. (2017) demonstrated that photo processing with a calibrated camera can determine carotenoid associated color changes in the skin. First, facial images of the double-blinded RCT participants were taken with a color chart in frame and under standardized distance and illumination conditions. The images were then color calibrated according to the color charts. Finally, a region of interest (ROI) of standardized size was selected and the CIELab color space was calculated from the average RGB values within the ROI selected. Foo et al. (2017) showed significantly greater skin yellowness (b\*) with capsulated  $\beta$ -carotene supplementation (~18 mg/day) over 12 weeks when compared to placebo (lactose capsules) in a double-blind RCT of 43 Caucasian men with a mean age of 21 years (Foo et al., 2017). The authors showed that an increase in skin b\* values was not associated with improvement of indices of oxidative stress measured by urinary 8-OHdG and isoprostanes and semen DNA fragmentation, immune function assessed by salivary bacterial killing capacity and lysosomal activity, and semen quality measured by sperm concentration and

motility. These findings are in concert with other studies showing limited improvements in healthrelated biomarkers with carotenoid supplementation (Butalla et al., 2012; Collins et al., 1998; Crane et al., 2011; Druesne-Pecollo et al., 2010; Hercberg et al., 2010; Nagao et al., 2015; Omenn et al., 1996; The Alpha-tocopherol, Beta-carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, 1994; Wright et al., 2007).

In contrast, studies have consistently shown that carotenoid-rich FV intake can positively influence various health biomarkers including: dysglycemia (Arkbalay et al., 2008); oxidative stress markers 8-iso-PGF2 and 8-OHdG (Cocate et al., 2015); HDL antioxidant modulating enzymes PON-1 and LCAT (Daniels et al., 2014), endothelium-dependent dilation (George et al., 2012); CRP (Rubin et al., 2012; Watzl et al., 2005), sICAM1, leukocytes, fibrinogen, F2-isoprostanes, and superoxide dismutase (Hozawa et al., 2007); and extrinsic epigenetic age acceleration determined by blood cell composition and DNA methylation (Quach et al., 2016). An interesting aspect that emerged from the Foo et al. (2017) study was that perceived health and attractiveness increased in concert with the skin carotenoid associated coloration. Such findings agree with the concept that carotenoids play a role in the synergistic antioxidative network in the skin that play a role in skin and overall health (Darvin et al., 2011; Lademann et al., 2011).

Smartphones have emerged as portable diagnostic tools with potential to decrease costs and improve healthcare monitoring capability (Oncescu et al., 2013). While many smartphonebased diagnostic tools tend to require a separate accessory system that works with the phone, such as for colorimetric detection of pH in sweat and saliva (Oncescu et al., 2013) or jaundice (Taylor et al., 2017) and pancreatic cancer diagnosis (Mariakakis et al., 2017), some applications use the smartphone's own sensors to address chronic wound and wound care identification (White et al., 2014), size and color detection of wounds (Poon & Friesen, 2015), or diagnosis of skin cancer (Abbott & Smith, 2018). This is all done through digital image capture and analysis. The fact that the largest obstacles related to variations in lighting, zoom, and angle of image capture have already been surpassed via a large dataset and optimization of software (Abbott & Smith, 2018) suggest that there might be potential for reliable smartphone image applications for health assessment.

## 2.6 Perceived Health and Attractiveness

Increased perceived health and attractiveness resulting from greater skin carotenoid content is thought to have evolved through sexual selection (Whitehead et al., 2012c). In birds, amphibians, reptiles, and fish, bright colored ornaments signal the quality of the owner because carotenoids are being stored to serve as an 'honest' sexual signal rather than for self-maintenance (Alonso-Alvarez & Galvan, 2011; Simons et al., 2012). In a meta-analysis of 148 studies spanning 88 different species of birds, carotenoid levels and ornament color intensity were significantly related to greater swelling in response to phytohaemagglutinin, a lectin used to test immunocompetence and resistance to oxidative stress (Simons et al., 2012). Free radical exposure has been shown to induce a paler ornament in 77 red-legged partridges, similar to the notion that sickness is associated with pale skin, due to depletion of carotenoid reserves from the skin stores (Alonso-Alvarez & Galvan, 2011). A healthier individual, or organism of higher quality, is perceived as a more attractive mate when considering resistance to stressors and reproductive viability (Garcia-De et al., 2015). A healthier organism tends to be associated with more pro-vitamin A carotenoid activity, as well as the presence of anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant, and anti-cancer carotenoids present in skin reserves, which would coincide with an increasing concentration of yellow pigmented molecules present in the skin (Garcia-De et al., 2015; Whitehead et al., 2012c; Stephen et al., 2011).

Increased perceived health and attractiveness has been associated with preference for lighter (L\*) and yellower (b\*) faces across different races in a perception trial involving 31 black

south Africans and 32 white Caucasians (Stephen et al., 2011). In another perception trial, when presented photos of a human face with the ability to change carotenoid or melanin skin coloration, participants chose to increase carotenoid coloration more than melanin coloration when instructed to choose the healthiest looking face (Stephen et al., 2011). Another study repeated the same experiment focusing on attractiveness, with three different groups of 60 participants (180 total, ~75% Caucasian and the rest other ethnicities) in choosing the most attractive face along a spectrum of melanin coloration alone, carotenoid coloration alone, and both melanin and carotenoid coloration combined (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015). This study demonstrated a greater perceived attractiveness with melanin or carotenoid coloration alone but found that carotenoid coloration was consistently preferred over the tanning associated melanin coloration (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015). Similar results of a preference for yellower (b\*) skin, greater than the preference for melanin associated tanning, have also been demonstrated with Asian populations (Whitehead et al., 2012c). Interventions applying an appearance-based focus have been effective for motivating smoking (Semer et al., 2005) and tanning (Mahler et al., 2007) cessation, with the potential to drive improved FV intake (Whitehead et al., 2014).

#### **2.7 Potential Motivational Nudge**

While expert advice and/or nutritional counseling has demonstrated moderate (1-2 servings/day) increases in FV intake following a meta-analysis of 15 intervention trials with >3 month follow up (Maderuelo-Fernandez et al., 2015), potentially more effective methods of intervention are being studied. A review of 105 interventions to modify dietary behavior suggests interventions need to be frequent to reinforce the message, have a level of personalization, and have a duration of > 6 week (Racey et al., 2016). A prospective study using two self-reported surveys on 139 UK university students, one assessing demographics and FV intake predictor

variables at baseline, and another assessing average FV intake and perceived obstacles approximately two weeks later, demonstrated that motivation is an important determinant behind FV intake intervention (Evans et al., 2015).

Studies have demonstrated the influence of appearance in motivating healthy lifestyle change (Pezdirc et al., 2015). An RCT of 123 undergraduate students resulted in less skin darkening measured by skin spectrophotometric readings at 4- to 5- and 12-months following appearance-based interventions including exposure to photo-aged faces with extreme cases of wrinkles and sun spots at baseline and at 4- to 5-months following UV photographs depicting underlying skin damage (Mahler et al., 2007). A study using a facial overlay and digitally produced masks simulating facial disfigurements and wrinkling from tobacco use on participants' own facial photos demonstrated increased participation in smoking cessation programs (Semer et al., 2005).

Appearance also seems to have an influence on lifestyle change associated with a healthy diet. A survey of 250 UK adults found a strong association between importance attributed to appearance and personal health and dietary guideline conformity (Traill et al., 2012). When compared to a group of older individuals (35-50 y) from the National Weight Control Registry, younger participants (18-35 y) were more motivated by appearance and social factors and rated health concerns as less motivating (LaRose et al., 2013). This suggests that young adults would be more receptive to appearance-based motivational nudges, which could help form stronger healthy lifestyle habits. Moreover, the problem of low FV intake is most prevalent among adolescents (aged 11-17 years) (Minaker and Hammond, 2016), likely due to the age groups' poor self-regulation strategies (Taut et al., 2015).

While the appeal to vanity as a motivational nudge is still a novel concept, one study demonstrated a sustained improvement in self-reported FV intake over a 10 week follow up of 46 participants (aged 18-61 years) when they were shown the appearance of their own face on a

spectrum of carotenoid coloration representing  $\pm 10$  servings of FV (Whitehead et al., 2014). One drawback from this study is the self-reported FV intake assessment, allowing for a major source of bias. There is a need for better FV intake interventions tailored toward motivation and extrinsic factors, such as attractiveness, along with improved monitoring of FV intake and NCD risk.

Chapter 3

Manuscript

# Digital Photo Analysis for Tissue Carotenoid Status Assessment

Lucas Roldos<sup>1</sup>, Elena Georghiu<sup>5</sup>, Ben Jennings<sup>6</sup>, Fred Kingdom<sup>4</sup>, John Lydon<sup>3</sup>, Alana Cohen<sup>3</sup>, Michele Iskandar<sup>1</sup>, Danielle Donnelly<sup>2</sup>, Luis B. Agellon<sup>1</sup>, Kebba Sabally<sup>1</sup>, Stan Kubow<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Human Nutrition, <sup>2</sup>Plant Science Dept., McGill University, 21,111 Lakeshore Rd, Ste. Anne de Bellevue, QC, Canada, H9X 3V9, <sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, McGill University, 2001 Avenue McGill College, Montréal, QC H3A 1G1 <sup>4</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Montreal General Hospital, 1650 Cedar Ave., Rm L11.112, Montreal, QC, H3G 1A4, <sup>5</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Stirling, Stirling, Scotland FK9 4LA, <sup>6</sup>Brunel University London, Kingston Ln, London, Uxbridge UB8 3PH, UK

Corresponding Author:	Dr. Stan Kubow
	School of Human Nutrition
	McGill University
	21,111 Lakeshore Rd., Room MS2-037
	Ste. Anne de Bellevue, QC, Canada, H9X 3V9.
	Phone: 1-514-398-7754

# **3.1 Introduction**

Globally, human fruit and vegetable (FV) intake is not meeting dietary recommendations for health maintenance. In 2010, only 0.4% of a sample representing 87% of the world's adult population met United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) dietary guidelines of about 4 servings (2 cups) of fruit and 5 servings (2 ½ cups) of vegetables per day (Micha et al., 2015). Low FV consumption accounted for 41% of dietary risk associated deaths in 2015 and is one of the leading preventable causes for non-communicable diseases (NCDs) (Forouzanfar et al., 2016). While there are various FV components shown to prevent NCDs (Shashirekha et al., 2015), carotenoids also serve as an accurate biomarker for FV intake (National Academy of Sciences, 2000) beyond probable evidence for their chemopreventive properties against NCD risk (Donaldson, 2011).

There are various methods for carotenoid assessment. Food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) and food diaries are quick, simple measures but are prone to bias and lack accuracy of reporting (Willet, 2012; Wrieden et al., 2003). Biomarker measurement methods such as liquid chromatography, whether detected either optically or via mass spectroscopy, can accurately distinguish plasma carotenoids (Couillard et al., 2016; Gentili & Caretti, 2010). However, these methods require invasive sampling, are costly, time consuming, and require experience and expertise to analyze and interpret results (Zamora-Ros et al., 2012). Optical methods for carotenoid assessment using skin coloration based on storage of excess carotenoids in skin (Kiokias et al., 2016) are relatively accurate, quick, and non-invasive (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015; Whigham & Redelf, 2015) but still lack accessibility.

Studies using spectrophotometric methods have demonstrated improvements in skin carotenoid coloration resulting from carotenoid-rich FV supplementation (Pezdirc et al., 2016), FV-rich smoothies (Tan et al., 2015), and FV or  $\beta$ -carotene alone (Stephen et al., 2011).

Reflectance spectrophotometry can assess skin coloration and convert color saturation values into a device independent and perceptually uniform L\*a\*b\* color space (Pathare et al., 2013). The b\* value represents blue (-120) to yellow (+120) coloration and is the value that corresponds to the carotenoid associated color changes in the skin. Recently, Foo et al. (2017) demonstrated that digital image analysis of skin regions for carotenoid associated coloration can accurately assess changes in carotenoid intake. Photos of the skin were taken before and after carotenoid supplementation and then analyzed for carotenoid associated coloration values (b\*) but the analysis was not compared to another established method of carotenoid associated with significant enhancements in perceived health and facial attractiveness (Foo et al., 2017).

Carotenoid enhanced skin coloration has been referred to as an 'honest signal' for health and attractiveness in animals (Alonso-Alvarez & Galvan, 2011; Simons et al., 2012). Such increases in perceived health and attractiveness in association with high carotenoid skin coloration has been demonstrated across ethnicities (Stephen et al., 2011; Whitehead et al., 2012c), but it appears this increase is not the result of increased melanin skin content, which results from tanning. When compared to skin coloration changes associated with tanning or low F&V intake, skin coloration changes associated with high F&V intake were perceived as more attractive (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015). Behavioral interventions, such as a Mediterranean diet, aimed to increase FV intake have led to moderate improvements (Maderuelo-Fernandez et al., 2015), but more innovative approaches are necessary to prevent NCD development. In that regard, motivation (Evans et al., 2015) and appearance (LaRose et al., 2013) have been identified as important determinants that could drive improvements in FV intake and lifestyle change.

The development of a digital photo skin analysis for carotenoid status assessment can reduce the costs, invasiveness, time, and complexity that have limited widespread utilization of current methods of carotenoid status assessment. To our knowledge, digital photo analysis for carotenoid status assessment has not been compared to spectrophotometric measurement, including the testing of various photo capture conditions or devices. Likewise, the impact of short-term carotenoid-rich supplementation on skin coloration and intra-individual attractiveness over a two-week period has not been studied. The present study used short-duration supplementation of a carotenoid-rich carrot juice to evaluate the utility of digital image analysis for skin carotenoid status under varying lighting conditions in comparison to previously established methods (FFQ, food diary, and spectrophotometer) and also determined possible changes in intra-individual perceived health and attractiveness.

### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

## 3.2.1 Study Design

An open label carrot-based FV juice supplementation trial of two weeks was undertaken with a four-week follow-up period (Figure 3.1). Body weight, an FFQ validated for the local region (Traynor et al., 2006 skin spectrophotometric measures, and digital photos of the face and both sides of the right hand for skin coloration analysis were taken bi-weekly for a total of four measurement sessions. Photos for perceived health and attractiveness ratings were taken during all four measurement sessions as well. Baseline measurements for all the above parameters were taken along with height assessment prior to the start of supplementation. A food diary was completed at baseline, after supplementation, and after follow-up completion.

All participants were provided with the full amount of Buda Juice No. 03 (Buda Juice, Mississauga, ON) frozen, following their baseline measurements at the Mary Emily Clinical Nutrition Research Unit (Ste. Anne de Bellevue, QC). Participants were instructed to store the juice in the freezer and thaw the juice in the fridge according to their consumption of one cup (250 ml) of the daily for two weeks. They were also reminded to consume the carrot juice with daily email reminders for the first two days of the intervention trial. The instructions also advised the subjects to drink the juice with a fatty meal, as lipid consumption aids carotenoid bioavailability (Faulks & Southon, 2005). Compliance for juice consumption was monitored through return of empty juice bottles. Buda Juice No. 03 consisted of a cold pressed, certified organic, non-pasteurized, mixture of carrot, orange, apple and cucumber juices and was subsequently analyzed for  $\beta$ -carotene content.

## 3.2.2 Participants

Twenty-six McGill University Macdonald Campus students (9 male, 17 female) were recruited through fliers posted on the campus and a mass email of the flier was sent to the undergraduate and graduate student body. The sample size was calculated to detect a difference of about 3.0 in yellow (b\*) skin coloration based on the results of Tan et al. (2015), assuming a standard deviation of 2.0 with an  $\alpha = 0.05$  and 80% power. To account for 20% dropout, five participants were added.

Inclusion criteria were: 1) BMI between 18.5-24.9; and 2) 18-40 years of age (according to Statistics Canada, over 90% of university students were  $\leq$ 40 years of age in 2006). Exclusion criteria were: 1) chronic or acute illness; 2) chronic or acute skin condition; 3) use of dietary supplements associated with the skin; 4) use of skin altering products; 5) smoking; 6) excessive alcohol use (>1 drink/day for females, >2 drinks/day for males); and 7) recent illness in the last month. If a participant became ill during the study (i.e., cold or flu), this event was recorded but data was still collected. The study was approved by the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Research Ethics Board at McGill University (Montreal, QC).

# 3.2.3 Weight and Height

Participants were asked to take their shoes off and align their heels to the wall using the NHANES (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey) measurement protocol for height and weight (NHANES, 2007). Height was measured at baseline, and weight was measured at 0, 2, 4 and 6 weeks.

## 3.2.4 Dietary Assessment

Participants completed a short FFQ, which had been validated against a 24-hr recall for a similar region (Ontario, Canada), with verbal instructions provided during the beginning middle and end of the study (weeks 0, 3, and 6). Participants were also provided with instructions on how to complete a three-day food record for Weeks 0, 3, and 6. To analyze the nutrient content of the participants' diets from the food diaries, food quantities were entered into the Food Processor Nutrition and Fitness Software<sup>®</sup> ESHA Research 2011. The three-day food record provided greater detail of the overall diet, particularly the amount of fat consumption as this could affect carotenoid bioavailability (Faulks & Southon, 2005).

#### 3.2.5 β-Carotene Quantification by LC-MS

Buda Juice No. 03 was subject to an extraction based on the method of Tan et al. (2015) that involved freeze drying five juice samples. From a sample weight of five ml, extraction was performed with five ml methanol/hexane (4:3, v/v) mixture for two cycles. The samples were sonicated for 15 min and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 5 min following the addition of the methanol/hexane mixture.

Analyses were done on a triple quadrupole MS system (EVOQ Elite, Bruker, Billerica, MA) coupled with an ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography pump (Advance, Bruker,

Billerica, MA) and equipped with a C18 reverse phase column YMC Carotenoid ( $4.6 \times 250$  mm, 3 µm, (p/n CT99S032546WT) (Waters, Milford, MN). Mobile aqueous phase A (0.1% formic acid in water) and mobile organic phase B was 100% acetone. Chromatographic runs were performed under isocratic conditions for 30 min using 95% solvent B. The column temperature was set at 40°C and the flow rate was 1 mL/min. The samples were injected in triplicate.

The operating parameters of the mass spectrometer were: APCI positive spray 99 uA, cone temperature 350°C, cone gas flow 20 psi, heated probe temperature 450°C, probe gas flow 40 psi, nebulizer gas flow 60 psi. The mass spectrometer was used in the multiple reaction monitoring mode (MRM). Two transitions were followed for  $\beta$ -carotene: 537.40 $\rightarrow$ 177.20 (CE 11 eV) and 537.40 $\rightarrow$ 137.2 (CE 20 eV).

Quantification of the different compounds, based on peak areas, was performed following an external calibration curve using a  $\beta$ -carotene standard (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). The xaxis presented the concentration (ng/ml) and the y-axis displayed the peak area. Six points of calibration were used to produce a standard curve and the linearity was assessed by the correlation coefficient, R<sup>2</sup>.

## 3.2.6 Spectrophotometer Skin Coloration Values

A CM-600d spectrophotometer (Konica Minolta, Tokyo, JPN) served as a source of validation for the digital imaging assessment since it yields color values in CIELab color space, thereby allowing direct comparison to values attained from digital image analysis. Participants were required to wash their hands with soap and clean their right cheek with an alcohol swab prior to the imaging measurements to ensure the absence of dirt or debris that may interfere with the spectrophotometric measurements. Seated participants extended their right hand out and the spectrophotometer was placed in the middle of the palm followed by the top of the hand for

readings. The spectrophotometer was then placed on the right cheek for readings. All measurements were performed in triplicate. The L\*a\*b\* values were noted and the glass on the spectrophotometer was cleaned with a Kimtech Kimwipe following each measurement.

## 3.2.7 Digital Photo Capture and Processing

A table top light tent studio with two halogen bulbs was used to create standardized illumination conditions for image capture. Photos of the participant's right palm, top of the hand, and the right cheek were taken in Raw format with a Canon EOS Rebel T1i camera (Canon Inc., Tokyo, JPN) with ISO set to 400, F at 8.0, and 33 mm focal length. Additional photos were taken with an iPhone 4 smartphone (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA) and Google Pixel 1 smartphone (Google, Menlo Park, CA). All photos were taken at a standard distance of 60 cm. To assess background color influence on the image coloration in standardized conditions, all photos were taken with different backgrounds: 1) black background to prevent residual reflection; and 2) white background to counter the possible excess contrast from the former. To evaluate uncontrolled lighting conditions and devices, additional photos were taken with the camera and both smartphone cameras in a room with lights off using the device's flash, as well as in a room using incandescent lighting conditions. Photos for the separate body regions taken in triplicate using the three devices under two standardized lighting conditions (n = 54 images), which provided a total to 108 images per timepoint per participant.

Participants were asked to put their hand in the light tent and place it in the middle of the photo frame. Each participant had a photo taken of their right palm as the primary outcome for carotenoid status assessment and the top of their right hand as sun-exposed comparison. A photo of the participants' face was taken to assess for perceived health and attractiveness ratings as well

as carotenoid-derived skin coloration. Each photo had a white piece of paper with the participants ID for the purpose of this study, as well as a color chart for use as internal standards of illumination for image processing and analysis. Canon camera images were only color calibrated, only white reference normalized, both color calibrated and white reference normalized, and kept without processing. All other device photos were initially processed by the device's standard proprietary filters and then white reference normalized and kept without further processing.

## 3.2.8 Perceived Health and Attractiveness Assessment

The perceived health and attractiveness assessment was conducted via an electronic survey that displayed randomized images at different timepoints of intervention of the participants based on a previously published methodology using a 10-point bipolar scale rankings from 1 (very unattractive) to 10 (very attractive) (Lydon et al., 2003). The assessment ratings of 11 trained evaluators who provided independent ratings on each subject were averaged. Regardless of culture of origin and ethnicity, agreement among trained raters has previously been noted to be high (Nestor et al., 2010). Inter-rater reliability was high after comparing ratings that the evaluators made individually on 20 practice headshots, which allowed measurement of subjective ratings due to the strong consensus among evaluators. The assistants were instructed to rate the pictures using an objective and holistic approach involving a bipolar scale of values ranging from very unattractive (1) to very attractive (10) and very unhealthy (1) to very healthy (10). The ratings were done for each timepoint in the dataset and this allowed us to compare changes in participant's perceived health and attractiveness over the time of the intervention (within person ratings).

#### 3.2.9 Digital Photo Analysis

Once all the images were taken, organized, and labeled (for each participant, week, camera,

lighting condition, region of interest (ROI) and duplicate), an in-house developed Matlab program (MathWorks Natick, MA) was used to analyze the palm images for their yellow coloration through the CIELab color space. The images were processed using the Matlab program where a standardized square of 80 x 80 pixels was placed in the most central region of the right palm, right cheek, and top of the right hand of respective images to designate the region of interest (ROI). The program then converts the device-dependent and non-perceptually uniform RGB (Red, Green, Blue) values of this ROI and converts them to the perceptually uniform and device independent CIE (Commision Internationale de l'Eclairage) L\*a\*b\* color space. The L\* value is a measure of luminance ranging from 0 (black) to 100 (white). The a\* value is a measure of green (-120) to red (120) coloration. For the purposes of this study, the b\* values only were assessed, which measures blue to yellow coloration on a spectrum of -120 (blue) to 120 (yellow).

#### 3.2.10 Statistical Analysis

Dietary data results are reported as means across participants  $\pm$  SD. To ensure consistency across dietary data, separate repeated measures ANOVA were performed for each nutrient, using time as a factor with 3 levels (0, 3, and 6 weeks) and average nutrient content following food diary entries for each participant as the dependent variable.

Digital image analysis of yellow (b\*) skin coloration values was estimated for each image with three different devices under four different lighting conditions and then compared to yellow (b\*) skin coloration values measured with the spectrophotometer. All b\* values are reported as means across participants  $\pm$  SEM. To analyze the effect of carrot juice supplementation on carotenoid status using the different methods of assessment over the six-week period, separate one-way repeated measures ANOVA analyses were performed for the spectrophotometer readings for each of the three ROI. The above statistical analysis was also performed with the image analysis

data for different combinations of the three different ROI, across three different devices, with or without color calibration applied for the Canon camera images, with or without reference white normalization of the photos, and under each of four various lighting conditions to determine which permutation would be most sensitive. Time was used as a factor with 4 levels (0, 2, 4, and 6 weeks) and CIE L\*a\*b\* color space b\* values assessed by spectrophotometry and photo analysis were dependent variables. The above one-way repeated measures ANOVA analysis was also used to ensure consistency in the white reference used for the images. To relate carotenoid status measurement values of the various digital image devices and lighting conditions to the spectrophotometer values, two-tailed Pearson correlation matrices were computed for each ROI under the four different lighting conditions for each camera used. Correlations were Bonferroni corrected and a Pearson correlation coefficient of 0.7-0.9 was considered strong (Mukaka, 2012).

Perceived health and attractiveness ratings were reported as mean ratings for the participant from all the raters  $\pm$  SEM per time point. Two, one-way repeated measures ANOVA were performed using time as a factor with 4 levels (0, 2, 4, and 6 weeks) and changes in perceived health and attractiveness ratings as the dependent variables. Values of p < 0.05 were considered significant. All statistical calculations were performed using JASP (JASP, Amsterdam, Netherlands).

## **3.3 Results**

## 3.3.1 Dietary and physiological characteristics of participants

Nine males and sixteen female participants with an average BMI of 22.1 completed the study. One female dropped out after the fourth week for personal reasons. No significant differences were found for dietary nutrient intake (Table 3.1) or FV servings per day (Table 3.2) throughout the study. One participant did not submit their final food diary for the end of the study,

but when their data was removed, the data maintained no differences across time. Five participants developed a cold during the study, but their dietary data did not appear to be affected significantly and removal of these participants did not influence the results of the of the spectrophotometer data.

## 3.3.2 Carotenoid content of juice

The standard curve with six points of calibration at different concentrations of the  $\beta$ carotene standard (0.049, 0.098, 0.198, 0.391, 0.781, and 1.563 µg/ml) and linearity was confirmed at a correlation coefficient R<sup>2</sup> of 0.9978. The mean range of AUC (area under the curve) for the five carrot-based FV juice samples was 2600 to 3500, corresponding to an average  $\beta$ -carotene concentration of about 99 ± 12 µg/ml of juice. The mean content of  $\beta$ -carotene of the carrot-based Buda Juice was therefore confirmed to be 25 ± 3.0 mg/250 ml. This value corresponds to previous findings using HPLC-UV analysis showing approximately 12 mg of  $\beta$ -carotene per 100 ml of carrot juice, which provides about 30 mg per cup of carrot juice (Törrönen, et al., 1996). Another study using HPLC with UV detection measured 8.25 and 10.65 mg  $\beta$ -carotene per 100 g of carrot puree and boiled-mashed carrot, respectively, that amounts to about 20-25 mg/250 ml (Edwards et al., 2002). Likewise, an average content of 12 mg/100 ml and 5 mg /100 ml depending on the blend was measured via TLC (thin layer chromatography) densitometry (Starek et al., 2015).

## 3.3.3 Change in skin color over time

There was a significant increase (p < 0.05) in skin yellow coloration of the palm following the first two weeks of supplementation as measured by the Minolta spectrophotometer b\* values (Figure 3.2). There were no differences in b\* values for the top of the hand, while the cheek values decreased significantly at Week 6 when compared to Weeks 2 and 4. Color calibrated and white reference normalized images taken with the Canon camera yielded significant time dependent increases in b\* values for palm images under conditions of: (a) black background under standardized lighting and (b) lights off using the device's flash as the only source of illumination (Figure 3.3). Only photos of the cheek taken in incandescent lighting conditions demonstrated a significant decrease in b\* values over time (Table 3.9). Photos of the top of the hand taken in all conditions besides the black background demonstrated significant decreases over time (Table 3.9). Photos of the top of the hand taken with a black background demonstrated a significant increase from Week 2 to Week 4 and a significant decrease from Week 4 to Week 6 (Table 3.9). Interestingly, when white reference normalization of all images was removed, significant changes in b\* values were demonstrated for palm images with a white background and standardized lighting, in addition to the black background and flash conditions (Table 3.9). All other ROI and lighting condition combinations maintained their significant differences except the top of the hand black background images, which demonstrated a significant increase from Week 2 to Week 4 and 6 (Table 3.9).

The white reference itself (Table 3.4) produced significant time dependent increases in b\* values for palm images with a black background under standardized lighting conditions obtained via the Canon camera. All lighting conditions except the white background images resulted in significant time dependent changes in white reference b\* value for the top of the hand. Black background conditions showed significant differences at Weeks 0 and 2 in comparison to Weeks 4 and 6, flash conditions showed week 0 with significantly greater values than the other timepoints, and incandescent conditions showed significant differences between Week 4 and Weeks 0 and 2 (Table 3.9). No differences in the white reference b\* values were observed for the cheek images under any of the lighting conditions. Only the palm images showed increasing significant differences of the b\* value over time when addressing the reference white normalized images

without color calibration (Table 3.4). Images taken with the Canon camera yielded significant differences for the black and flash conditions, while the white conditions demonstrated a significant increase from Week 2 to 4, but a significant decrease from Week 4 to 6 (Table 3.9).

Images taken with the iPhone 4 demonstrated significant increases in b\* value for white and incandescent lighting conditions, while the Pixel 1 camera resulted in significant increases only in the flash condition (Table 3.10). For the cheek, Canon camera images did not show any differences, while the iPhone 4 images showed a decrease for only the flash condition, and the Pixel 1 images yielded decreasing significant differences for all conditions. Top hand images yielded decreasing significant difference for almost all combinations except no difference for iPhone 4 images taken in the incandescent condition.

Significant increases were only observed in palm images and top of the hand images from the Canon camera when addressing images without color calibration or white reference normalization (Table 3.11). The Canon camera palm images demonstrated increasing significant differences for all lighting conditions. Images taken with the iPhone 4 demonstrated increasing significant differences for white and incandescent conditions only, while the Pixel 1 images only demonstrated decreasing significant differences. The top hand images that demonstrated an increasing significant difference were in the black background condition. All other combinations resulted in either no difference or decreasing significant differences.

The b\* values obtained from the images taken with the color calibrated camera under different lighting conditions were correlated to the Minolta spectrophotometric method. This is the first validation for color calibrated camera image analysis against an established method of carotenoid status assessment. The color calibrated images with reference white normalization (Table 3.5) of the palm correlated strongly (r > 0.7 - 0.9; p < 0.001) with the respective spectrophotometer b\* values under the flash condition only (r = 0.82; p < 0.001), while the other

lighting conditions exhibited a moderate correlation. Images of the top of the hand showed strong significant correlations with spectrophotometer b\* values under all lighting conditions except the black background condition. The color calibrated images without reference white normalization demonstrated similar results (Table 3.6). Overall, the strongest correlation occurred between spectrophotometer b\* values and the b\* values obtained from images of the palm in the flash condition, regardless of whether reference white normalization was used.

The b\* values for images obtained from the non-color calibrated devices were correlated with respective b\* Minolta spectrophotometer values with (Table 3.7) and without (Table 3.8) white-reference normalization. The threshold for statistical significance was increased to a p value < 0.001 to accommodate the number of correlations (12) (p < 0.004) generated for each set of conditions, via a Bonferroni correction (Curtin & Shulz, 1998). The white reference normalized images of the palm yielded strong correlations for all conditions apart from the black background for the Canon camera (highest: flash, r = 0.850) and the Pixel 1 camera (highest: flash (Figure 3.4), r = 0.868; p < 0.001). The iPhone 4 correlated strongly under all lighting conditions but the white background (highest: incandescent (Figure 3.5), r = 0.861; p < 0.001). The images of the top of the hand only correlated strongly when photos were taken with the Canon camera in all conditions but the black background condition (highest: flash, r = 0.768; p < 0.001). The images without white reference normalization showed very similar correlations to the white reference images, but with slightly smaller correlation coefficients and the iPhone images taken under flash conditions did not correlate (Tables 3.7 & 3.8). For the images of the top of the hand, the lack of white reference normalization reduced the number of imaging conditions that yielded strong correlations to only the flash condition and incandescent condition when taken with the Canon and iPhone camera, respectively (Table 3.4 & 3.9). The images of the cheek did not show strong correlations with the spectrophotometer values, whether normalized to the white reference or not.

Inter-individual responses to the changes in skin b\* value coloration from the carrot-based FV juice supplementation were identified (Figure 3.6). Hence, we categorized our participants as responders, slow-responders and non-responders. Responder status was considered as an increase in b\* value of 1.0 or more above baseline as significance following supplementation for the whole sample was established with less than 1.0 (increase of 0.82 b\* value at Week 2). Twelve participants responded within the 2-week supplementation period, whereas seven participants showed a slow response with no skin coloration evident until 2- or 4-weeks post-supplementation (Weeks 4 and 6), and six participants were non-responders. According to one-way repeated measures ANOVA, the responders and slow responders demonstrated significant increases after supplementation (Week 2) and for the remainder of the study (Weeks 4 and 6), when compared to baseline (Week 0). Slow responders demonstrated significant increase (p < 0.05) in b\* values between Week 2 and Week 6. In reality, the difference between b\* values for Week 0 and Week 2 was about 1/3 of the difference that the responders experienced. The non-responders demonstrated no significant differences in b\* values throughout the study period.

## 3.3.4 Change in perceived health and attractiveness over time

There were no significant differences in perceived health or perceived attractiveness over time within-individuals when all individuals were grouped together (Figure 3.7). The data demonstrated a slight tendency to increase after supplementation (Week 2) but there was a large variation among participants. Separation into responders (for spectrophotometer skin b\* value increases above 1.0 unit in the palm and cheek), also showed no significant time dependent differences in ratings for perceived health or perceived attractiveness (Figure 3.8). Raters were relatively consistent as intra-class correlations on practice ratings demonstrated a consistency agreement of 0.823 and 0.899 for perceived health and attractiveness, respectively, when using a two-way random model.

Seven participants demonstrated a rating increase of > 0.5 units for perceived health following the supplementation while four participants demonstrated a rating increase of > 0.5 units for attractiveness. Three participants exhibited changes in both perceived health and attractiveness, two of which were part of the slow responder group for the palm skin coloration change.

## **3.4 Discussion**

The present study extends previous findings showing that increasing carotenoid intake by FV-based supplementation can cause skin yellowing in the palm (Pezdirc et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2015; Whitehead et al., 2012d), as findings demonstrated that a short two-week supplementation of a carrot-based FV juice was sufficient to show an associated increase in palm skin coloration that is linked with increased skin carotenoid content. The average change in palm skin coloration of approximately 1.0 b\* value resulting from the supplementation is in concert with the 0.6 b\* value increase of skin areas not exposed to the sun (i.e., palm, sole of foot, inner arm), seen following a four-week supplementation of high-carotenoid FVs (about 25 mg  $\beta$ -carotene/day) (Pezdirc et al., 2016) whereas an increase of b\* value of 3.2 was observed in facial skin regions (forehead and cheeks) following a four-week supplementation of smoothies (about 20 mg  $\beta$ -carotene/day) (Tan et al., 2015). Another study demonstrated an increase in palm skin carotenoid status as measured by Raman spectroscopy following fresh orange juice supplementation for 25 days (Massenti et al., 2015). Study differences, which include factors such as dosage, duration of study, and sample size likely contributed to variations in palm b\* values occurring from carotenoid supplementation.

There also appeared to be responders, slow responders, and non-responders to the supplementation to the carotenoid-rich carrot juice supplementation (Figure 3.6) regardless of similarity in dietary FV intake, health status and age range. There are a variety of factors that have indicated interindividual variations of carotenoid bioavailability including sex, age, lifestyle, genetics, and gut microbiota composition (Bohn et al., 2017). Recently, differences in gut microbiome profiles have been suggested to contribute a large part to the variations in carotenoid status among individuals (Djuric et al., 2018), especially since more than 50% of carotenoids from foods are not absorbed until the colon is reached (Bohn et al., 2017). Bioaccessibility gut model studies have reported that significant quantities of lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene are released from plant foods following colonic fermentation (Goñi et al., 2009). Future studies using stool samples could evaluate the degree that gut microbiota can influence responsiveness of skin coloration to carotenoid supplementation.

While some studies have reported increases in skin yellow coloration for the face with increasing FV intake (Pezdirc et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2015), as well as other areas of the skin with varying levels of sun exposure (i.e., inner arm and palm, or outer arm and top of the hand) (Pezdirc et al., 2016; Stephen et al., 2011), the two-weeks of carrot-based FV juice supplementation was not associated with skin yellow coloration changes of the cheek or top of the hand (exposed). This latter finding may be due several factors, including a shorter supplementation period, diversion of carotenoids to other tissues via a triage effect (Donaldson, 2011), or differences in carotenoid bioavailability due to variations in microbiome profiles. A study limitation was the lack of skin assessment for the red component (a<sup>\*</sup>) that is associated with  $\alpha$ -carotene, which is found in significant quantities in carrot juice. An increase in a<sup>\*</sup> skin values have been associated with FV smoothie intake (Tan et al., 2015) but have not necessarily been linked to a high-carotenoid FV diet per se (Pezdirc et al., 2016). Future studies need to assess red skin coloration (a<sup>\*</sup>) in association

with  $\alpha$ -carotene and lycopene supplementation as the predominantly yellow ( $\alpha$ -carotene and  $\beta$ -carotene) and red (lycopene) carotenoids account for most of total skin carotenoid content (Ermakov & Gellermann, 2010).

In accordance with a lack of detectable changes in yellow coloration of the face, no observed changes in ratings of perceived health and attractiveness over the two-week supplementation period were found. Previous studies have related greater FV intake (Stephen et al., 2011; Whitehead et al., 2012d) or FV associated skin color changes (represented by greater b\* values) (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015; Stephen et al., 2011) to greater ratings of perceived health (Stephen et al., 2011) and attractiveness (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015; Whitehead et al., 2012d). Two  $\beta$ -carotenoid supplementation studies of longer durations of 8 weeks (Stephen et al., 2011) and 12 weeks (Foo et al., 2017), have reported improvements in perceived health (Foo et al., 2017; Stephen et al., 2011) and attractiveness (Foo et al., 2017). The differences in perceived health and attractiveness ratings between previous studies and the present work is likely due to the shorter intervention time and method of perceptual analysis. The ratings may be less sensitive than simply choosing which face is healthier looking or attractive when comparing a baseline image to an endpoint image, as was done in other studies (Lefevre & Perrett, 2014; Foo et al., 2017). Other influencing factors could include confounding influences such as effects from red skin coloration (a\*) (Stephen et al., 2012) and other dietary carotenoids and antioxidants in the diet (Darvin et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2013). Alternatively, or in addition, the methodology used to rate the images may not be sensitive enough to demonstrate intra-individual differences following the short intervention period despite the within rating consistency and the use of randomization and trained raters.

In addition to significant changes in yellow coloration of the palm skin following carotenoid supplementation, b\* values of the palm and top of the hand obtained from the Canon

camera image analysis exhibited strong (r > 0.7) and medium (r > 0.5-0.7) correlations with the Minolta reflectance spectrophotometer b\* values. Given that the black background condition did not yield consistent reference white b\* values for the palm (likely due to too much contrast), and black, flash, and incandescent conditions were not consistent for images of the top of the hand, those conditions should be ruled out of any analysis for inconsistent color representation. The flash lighting condition showed the highest correlation between Canon camera image b\* values of the palm with palm spectrophotometer b\* values (Table 3.5), and so this appears to be the best imaging condition for assessment of palm skin for carotenoid status (Figure 3.3).

Discrepancies within the white reference color representation could have been due to reflections from clothing interfering with color representation, especially for the facial images (Whitehead et al., 2012d). Other confounding factors could have included too many features in frame; variations in contrast, exposure, focus, and the specific ROI selected (Pathare et al., 2013). The white reference used for normalization of the images was a piece of blank printer paper that was held up by participants at different angles, which likely produced shadows and variations in reflectance. When the white reference paper, however, was tested against a color chart standard white no significantly different coloration values were noted (data not shown). The close correlation coefficients between images taken in the same conditions and differing only by reference white normalization suggests that this processing did not influence the trend of the observed b\*values. White reference normalization does, however, appear to reduce the impact of excess or improper illumination and narrow the range of b\* values from image analysis. Overall, the Canon camera image analysis worked best with the images of the palm, taken in darkness with the flash of the device, with incandescent lighting and a neutral beige background, and standardized lighting conditions with a white background. In future studies, better control and standardization for capture conditions could be maintained such as covering the clothes of participants with fabric that matches the color of the background or ensuring a stricter standard position and location of the objects in the image (i.e., reference white, hand, face) to prevent unpredictable shadows (Foo et al., 2017).

There were several limitations of the study including a small sample size with an uneven representation of sexes among the participants and a short intervention period. The compliance monitoring was a limitation and lighting conditions were not standardized sufficiently as the wavelength spectrum emission of the bulbs used for each lighting condition was not assessed.

In conclusion, a two-week supplementation of a carrot-based FV juice was sufficient to increase carotenoid associated coloration of the palm skin although slow or non-responders to the supplementation were noted. Across all tested devices, the use of the flash of the device as the only source of illumination appeared to be the best in comparison to the spectrophotometer as strong correlations were reached for the smartphones and the calibrated camera, with and without the reference white normalization. Further work needs to be focused on clear and reproducible image manipulation and capture settings (Cromey, 2013) to allow for measurement of skin coloration to work with different devices and under various lighting conditions. In addition, identification of a threshold for perceived health and attractiveness changes needs to be identified, along with an adequate carotenoid supplementation dosage and duration.
Table 3.1	Subject characteristics	
-----------	-------------------------	--

B	MI	Weig	ht (kg)	Height (cm)		Age	
Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male
$21.3 \pm 2.1$	$23.5 \pm 2.0$	$56.8 \pm 5.8$	$71.0 \pm 11.1$	$163.1 \pm 4.4$	$175.6 \pm 5.0$	$21.1 \pm 2.2$	$24.3 \pm 3.7$

Mean subject characteristics including BMI, weight, weight, and age for males (n=9) and females (n=16) with SD

**Table 3.2** Average nutrient profile for baseline, midpoint, and endpoints (Weeks 0, 3, and 6, respectively) from diet diaries

Diet Diary Nutrients	Week 0	Week 3	Week 6
Calories	$1949.20 \pm 515.4$	$1951.16 \pm 480.9$	$1910.96 \pm 594.3$
Protein (g)	$79.80\pm31.3$	$86.28 \pm 37.4$	$84.35 \pm 36.7$
Carbohydrate (g)	$254.92\pm91.9$	$255.76\pm61.9$	$238.48\pm79.2$
Fiber (g)	$28.28\pm9.8$	$29.34 \pm 12.2$	$26.91 \pm 12.5$
Fat (g)	$70.00\pm21.9$	$68.48\pm24.1$	$70.87\pm30.6$
Saturated Fat (g)	$19.88\pm8.7$	$21.00\pm10.3$	$21.22 \pm 10.5$
Cholesterol (mg)	$280.36 \pm 225.3$	$263.64 \pm 204.2$	$259.87\pm150.9$
Vitamin A (IU)	$8162.88 \pm 7414.1$	$7173.96 \pm 6392.8$	$6757.04 \pm 6138.5$
β-Carotene (mcg)	$5581.44 \pm 4189.9$	$5877.28 \pm 5065.9$	$4962.35 \pm 3903.6$
F&V servings/d	$5.00 \pm 2.6$	$4.39 \pm 2.1$	$4.44 \pm 2.1$

**Table 3.3** Average daily fruit and vegetable (FV) servings  $\pm$  SD for all participants at each timepoint determined by food frequency questionnaire (FFQ)

FFQ FV servings						
Week 0	Week 3	Week 6				
$5.0\pm2.6$	$4.4\pm2.1$	$4.4\pm2.1$				

**Table 3.4** Significances of the time-dependant changes in b\* values for a reference white color obtained from the Canon camera under different lighting conditions

		White Reference Color Consistency					
		Lighting Condition					
		White	White Black Flash Incande				
	Palm	p=0.54	p=<0.001**	p=0.19	p=0.22		
ROI	Cheek	p=0.20	p=0.07#	p=0.35	p=0.93		
	<b>Top Hand</b>	p=0.464	p=<0.001**	p=0.005*	p=<0.001**		

One-way repeated measures ANOVA p-values for color calibrated canon camera white reference b\* values of different ROI across different lighting conditions over time

\*Significant at the 0.005 level, \*\*Significant at the 0.001 level, #Trend at p>0.05 &  $\leq 0.07$ 

Table 3.5 Canon camera color calibrated & reference white normalized image b* value correlation
with respective spectrophotometer b* value

		<b>Region of Interest</b>			
Condition	Pearson's Correlation	Palm	Cheek	TopHand	
White	r	0.674	0.487	$0.723^{*}$	
vv mte	p-value	<.001	< .001	<.001	
Dlaak	r	0.592	0.407	0.498	
DIACK	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001	
Flash	r	0.821*	0.609	0.754*	
гіазіі	p-value	<.001	< .001	<.001	
Incondoscont	r	0.650	0.476	0.717*	
incandescent	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001	

Pearson correlation coefficients for Canon camera color calibrated image b\* values of all regions of interest with reference white normalization and under various lighting conditions (standardized lighting conditions with a white (white) and black (black) background, lights off using the device's flash (flash) and using common incandescent bulb lighting (incandescent)) with respective spectrophotometer b\* values. \*strong correlation

 Table 3.6 Canon camera color calibrated image b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

		<b>Regions of Interest</b>				
Condition	Correlation	Palm	Cheek	TopHand		
White	r	0.692	0.424	0.743*		
vv mite	p-value	<.001	< .001	<.001		
Dlaak	r	0.476	0.276	0.444		
DIACK	p-value	<.001	0.005	<.001		
Flach	r	0.810*	0.581	$0.738^{*}$		
1'14511	p-value	<.001	< .001	<.001		
Incandescent	r	0.682	0.441	0.720*		
Incandescent	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001		

Pearson correlation coefficients for Canon camera color calibrated image b\* values of all regions of interest (ROI) without reference white normalization and under various lighting conditions with spectrophotometer b\* values of the same ROI. \*strong correlation

			R	egions of Inter	rest
Camera	Condition	Pearson's Correlation	Palm	Cheek	TopHand
	White	r	0.793*	0.568	0.723*
Canon	w mite	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	Black	r	0.567	0.467	0.471
	DIACK	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
Canon	Flach	r	0.850*	0.436	0.768*
	1/18/11	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	Incondescent	r	0.798*	0.563	0.729*
	meandescent	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	White	r	0.711*	0.623	0.539
	vv IIIte	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
Dimal	Plack	r	0.687	0.630	0.556
	DIACK	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
rixei	Flach	r	0.868*	0.504	0.676
	Flash	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	Incondoscont	r	0.796*	0.440	0.487
	meandescent	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001
	White	r	0.666	0.241	0.566
	w mite	p-value	< .001	0.016	< .001
	Black	r	0.753*	0.407	0.684
iDhana	DIACK	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
II none	Flach	r	0.793*	0.660	0.615
	1/18/11	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	Incondescent	r	0.861*	0.676	0.678
	meandescent	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001

**Table 3.7** All camera image reference white normalized b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

Pearson correlation coefficients for all devices' (Canon, Pixel 1, and iPhone 4) image b\* values of all regions of interest (ROI) with reference white normalization and under various lighting conditions with spectrophotometer b\* values of the same ROI. \*strong correlation

			R	egions of Inter	est
Camera	Condition	Pearson's Correlation	Palm	Cheek	TopHand
	White	r	0.719*	0.447	0.680
Canon	w mite	p-value	< .001	< .001	< .001
	Plack	r	0.463	0.268	0.416
	DIACK	p-value	< .001	0.007	<.001
Canon	Flach	r	0.803*	0.291	$0.758^{*}$
	1/18/11	p-value	< .001	0.003	<.001
	Incondescent	r	$0.847^{*}$	0.629	0.683
	meandeseem	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001
	White	r	$0.706^{*}$	0.420	0.535
Pixel	w mite	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001
	Black	r	0.641	0.418	0.592
	DIACK	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001
	Flach	r	$0.850^{*}$	0.429	0.674
	1 10511	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001
	Incandescent	r	$0.745^{*}$	0.341	0.637
	meandeseem	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001
	White	r	0.364	0.070	0.285
	winte	p-value	<.001	0.49	0.004
	Black	r	0.743*	0.248	0.683
iPhone	Diack	p-value	<.001	0.013	<.001
ппопс	Flach	r	0.609	0.531	0.463
	1 10511	p-value	< .001	< .001	<.001
	Incandescent	r	0.860*	0.693	0.731*
	meandescent	p-value	<.001	<.001	<.001

Table 3.8 All camera image b\* value correlations with respective spectrophotometer b\* values

Pearson correlation coefficients for all devices' (Canon, Pixel 1, and iPhone 4) image b\* values of all regions of interest (ROI) without reference white normalization and under various lighting conditions with spectrophotometer b\* values of the same ROI. \*strong correlation

					·			0	
Separate One-Way repeated measures ANOVA for b*value over time									
CC 8	& RW				Cond	lition			
ROI	Camera	White	White post- hoc	Black	Black post- hoc	Flash	Flash post- hoc	Ambient	Ambient post-hoc
Palm	Pro	/////	wk2-4 p=0.071	p=0.009	wk2-wk4 p=0.040	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=0.026; wk0-4 p=0.004; wk0-6 p=0.009	//////	/////
Cheek	Pro	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	p=0.001	wk2-4 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.042
TopHand	Pro	p<0.001	wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.032; wk4-6 p<0.001;	p=0.005	wk2-4 p=0.002; wk4-6 p=0.045	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.003; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=0.035	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.023; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.002;
CC, N	lo RW				Cond	lition			
ROI	Camera	White	White post- hoc	Black	Black post- hoc	Flash	Flash post- hoc	Ambient	Ambient post-hoc
Palm	Pro	p=0.030	wk2-4 p=0.027	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.011; wk0-6 p=0.006; wk2-4 p=0.005;	p=0.029	wk0-wk4 p=0.046	/////	/////
Cheek	Pro	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	p<0.001	wk2-6 p=0.002; wk4-6 p=0.005
TopHand	Pro	p<0.001	wk0-6 p=0.003; wk4-6 p<0.001	p<0.001	wk2-4 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.040	p<001	wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=.005	p<0.001	wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.002; wk4-6 p<0.001
RW_b	*Value				Cond	lition			
ROI	Camera	White	White post- hoc	Black	Black post- hoc	Flash	Flash post- hoc	Ambient	Ambient post-hoc
PalmRW	Pro	/////	/////	p<0.001	Jump in values for wk4 and wk6	/////	/////	/////	/////
CheekRW	Pro	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////
TopHandRW	Pro	/////	/////	p<0.001	Jump in values for wk4 and wk6	p=0.003	wk0-2 p=0.002;	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.002; wk2-4 p=0.013

Table 3.9	Significan	nces o	f the time-	dependant	changes in	b* values for	color cali	brated images
obtained	from	the	Canon	camera	under	different	lighting	conditions

Canon Camera image b\* value repeated measures ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc analysis for images under different lighting conditions for b\* values of different ROI for color calibrated (CC) images with and without reference white (RW) normalization and for b\* values of the white reference of these images. Green = increase, Grey = decrease, Light green = increase then decrease

**Table 3.10** Significances of time-dependant changes in b\* values for reference white normalized images obtained from all different devices, ROI, and lighting conditions.

RW, No CC		Condition								
ROI	Camera	White	White post- hoc	Black	Black post-hoc	Flash	Flash post-hoc	Ambient	Ambient post- hoc	
Palm	Pro	p=0.01	wk2-4 p=0.048; wk4-6 p=0.031	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.001; wk0-6 p=0.042; wk2-4 p=0.009	p<0.001	wk0-wk4 p=0.034; wk0- 6 p=0.002	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
Palm	Pixel	p=0.30 greenhouse geisser corrected	wk4-6 p=0.005	p<0.001 greenhouse geisser corrected	wk0-wk2 p=0.021; wk0- wk6 p<0.001	p=0.002	wk0-2 p=0.027; wk0-4 p=0.005	/////		
Palm	iPhone	p<0.001	wk0-4 p<0.001; wk2-4 p=0.002	/////	/////	/////	/////	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.001; wk0-6 p=0.025	
Cheek	Pro	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,,,,,,,	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
Cheek	Pixel	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=0.002; wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p<0.001	p<0.001	wk0-wk4 p=0.003; wk0- wk6 p<0.001	p=0.006 Greenhouse- geisser corrected	wk0-2 p<0.001,; wk0- wk4 p<0.001	p=0.015 Greenhouse- geisser corrected	wk0-2 p=0.003; wk0- wk4 p<0.001	
Cheek	iPhone	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	/////	Minimal significane (p=0.049) for wk2-wk4	p<0.001	Wk0-wk6 p<0.001; wk2 wk4 p=0.018; wk2-wk6 p<0.001	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
TopHand	Pro	p<0.001	wk0-6 p=0.005; wk4-6 p=0.003	p=0.002	wk2-4 p=0.002; wk4-6 p<0.001	p<0.001	wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=0.008	p<0.001	wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p<0.001	
TopHand	Pixel	p<0.001	wk0-6 p=0.002; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p<0.001	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=0.005; wk2-4 AND 6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.002; wk4-6 p=0.041	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.003; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; Wk4-6 p=0.002	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=<0.001; wk0-6 p=0.014; wk2-4 AND 6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p<0.001	
TopHand	iPhone	p=0.048	wk4-6 p=0.050	p<0.001	wk0-6 p=0.029; wk2-4 p=0.005; wk2-6 p<0.001	p=0.001	wk2-6 p=0.007	/////	/////	

Repeated measures ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc analysis for b\* values of images with reference white (RW) normalization and without color calibration (CC) that were taken with different cameras under different lighting conditions and at different regions of interest (ROI) over time. Green = increase, Grey = decrease, Light green = increase then decrease

**Table 3.11** Significances of time-dependant changes in b\* values for images obtained from all different devices, ROI, and lighting conditions.

No CC or RW		Condition									
ROI	Camera	White	White post- hoc	Black	Black post-hoc	Flash	Flash post-hoc	Ambient	Ambient post- hoc		
Palm	Pro	p=0.017	wk2-wk4 p=0.013	p<0.001	wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-wk4 p=0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001	p=0.005	wk0-6 p=0.028	p=0.006	wk0-4 p=0.007; wk0-6 p=0.039		
Palm	Pixel	p=0.001	wk0-2 p=0.033; wk0-6 p=0.003	p<0.001	wk0-2 p<0.001; wk0-4 p=0.004; wk0-6 p<0.001	/////		/////			
Palm	iPhone	p=0.003	wk0-4 p=0.005; wk2-4 p=0.014	/////	/////	/////	/////	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=0.023; wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p=0.011		
Cheek	Pro	/////	/////	/////	/////	/////		p=0.009			
Cheek	Pixel	p=0.001	wk0-2 p=.029; wk0-4 p=0.030; wk0-6 p=0.006	p=0.004	wk0-6 p=0.011; wk4-6 p=0.006	p=0.054	wk0-2 p<0.001; wk0-4 p=0.024	p=0.087	wk0-2 p<0.001; wk0-4 p<0.001		
Cheek	iPhone	/////	/////	p=0.058	wk2-4 p=0.048	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.002; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-4 p=0.002; wk2-6 p<0.001	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
TopHand	Pro	p=0.001	wk0-6 p=0.040; wk4-6 p=0.012	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.016; wk2-4 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.043	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.009; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=0.019	p<0.001	wk0-6 p=0.004; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=0.001		
TopHand	Pixel	p<0.001	wk0-4 p=0.029; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; Wk4-6 p<0.001	p<0.001	wk0-2 p<0.001; wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.013	p<0.001	wk0-2 p=0.001; wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p=0.002	p<0.001	wk0-4p=0.027; wk0-6 p<0.001; wk2-6 p<0.001; wk4-6 p<0.001		
TopHand	iPhone	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	p<0.001	wk0-4 p<0.001; wk0-6 p=0.020; wk2-4 p<0.001; wk2-6 p=0.003	p=0.009	wk0-6 p=0.006	/////	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		

Repeated measures ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc analysis for b\* values of images without reference white (RW) normalization or color calibration (CC) that were taken with different cameras under different lighting conditions and at different ROI over time.





**Figure 3.2** Average b\* values following Minolta spectrophotometer measurement on different regions of the skin including top of the hand (grey), palm (blue), and cheek (orange) (error bars are SEM).



**Figure 3.3** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the Canon camera under the flash condition (error bars are SEM)



**Figure 3.4** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the Pixel 1 smartphone camera under the flash condition (error bars are SEM).



# Pixel 1 Palm Images With Flash Condition

**Figure 3.5** Average b\* values of reference white normalized palm images taken with the iPhone 4 smartphone camera under the incandescent condition (error bars are SEM).



Figure 3.6 Intervention responsiveness by palm spectrophotometer readings



Intervention responsiveness demonstrated by separating participants into responders (increase  $\geq 1.0$  b\* value following supplementation), slow responders (increase  $\geq 1.0$  b\* value throughout the study), and non-responders (increases < 1.0 b\* value) based on the spectrophotometer b\* values of the palm (error bars are SEM).

**Figure 3.7** Average ratings of perceived health and attractiveness for the 25 participants over time (error bars are SEM).



**Figure 3.8** Average ratings of perceived health and attractiveness in responders to supplementation for palm and cheek b\* values (> 1.0 increase) (error bars in SEM)



### Chapter 4

#### **Final Conclusions**

#### 4.1 General Summary and Conclusions

Most of the global population is not consuming enough FVs (Hall et al., 2009; Micha et al., 2015) to maintain health (Lim et al., 2012; WHO, 2017). Inadequate FV intake is one of the leading preventable risk factors for NCDs (Forouzanfar et al., 2016) and increased FV intake is associated with reduced risk of circulatory, respiratory, and digestive diseases (Leenders et al., 2014). In fact, a dose-dependent response of FV intake and decreased relative risk for cardiovascular diseases (CHD, CVD, and stroke), cancer, and all-cause mortality has been reported (Aune et al., 2017). In view of the above, there is the need for better monitoring of these relationships. The need for faster and more convenient monitoring is also evident as the healthcare system is increasingly becoming under pressure for quality and quantity of care because of rising NCD prevalence (Albahri et al, 2018).

Beyond high micronutrient and fiber composition, FVs carry several phytochemicals that have been attributed NCD-risk reduction potential (Shashirekha et al., 2015). Carotenoids are a class of yellow, orange, and red phytochemicals, primarily obtained from the diet (Namitha & Negi, 2010), that have shown antioxidant (Maiani et al., 2009), anti-inflammatory (Watzl et al., 2005), and anti-cancer properties (Gloria et al., 2014). Serum concentrations of the plant pigment have demonstrated a positive dose-response relationship with NCD prevention (Donaldson, 2011) and have been suggested as the best biomarker for FV intake (National Academy of Sciences, 2000).

Among all the methods of carotenoid status assessment, optical methods avoid the inherent biases of self-administered questionnaires (Willet, 2012; Wrieden et al., 2003) and exhibit a reliable level of sensitivity comparable to more invasive and complex methods such as HPLC sample analysis (Jahns et al., 2014; Stahl et al., 1998). Optical methods assess the carotenoid content of the skin as carotenoids are deposited there, as well as in the liver and adipose tissue, after meeting immediate needs throughout the systemic circulation (Kiokias et al., 2016). Reflectance spectrophotometry measures the yellow coloration of the skin associated with the plant pigment coloration (Ermakov & Gellerman, 2015), which has demonstrated a positive relationship with FV intake (Pezdirc et al., 2015; Stephen et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2015), carotenoid supplementation (Coetzee & Perrett, 2014; Stephen et al., 2011), and perceived health (Stephen et al., 2011) and attractiveness (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015; Stephen et al., 2011) irrespective of ethnicity (Stephen et al., 2011; Whitehead et al., 2012c) or skin melanin content from sun exposure (Lefevre & Perrett, 2015).

Digital image analysis of participant's skin for the carotenoid associated yellow coloration has demonstrated similar results following carotenoid supplementation as well as its influence on perceived health and attractiveness (Foo et al., 2017), but it has not been compared to existing assessment methods for carotenoid status. Since digital image analysis can detect carotenoid status and perceived health and attractiveness changes under standardized conditions, differences in capture conditions or image processing may allow for smartphone carotenoid status and perceived health and attractiveness assessment, potentially creating a highly accessible yet reliable method for FV intake assessment and intervention.

In the present study, detectable changes in carotenoid status were induced via supplementation of 250 ml of a cold-pressed carrot-based FV juice to 25 participants daily for an intervention period of two weeks. The juice was measured for its  $\beta$ -carotene content via LC-MS

analysis. Measurements consisting of a validated FFQ (Taylor et al., 2006), food record, and skin coloration values for three regions of interest (palm, top of the hand, and cheek) taken via spectrophotometer and digital image capture and analysis. Age, sex, and height and weight were measured to record changes in BMI. Dietary assessment data was recorded at the beginning, middle, and end of the study, while weight and skin carotenoid measurements were recorded bi-weekly following baseline measurement for a total of six weeks. Digital images were taken with Canon EOS Rebel T1i, Google Pixel 1 smartphone, and Apple iPhone 4 smartphone cameras under standardized lighting conditions within a light box with a full white and full black background, under the device's flash as the only source of illumination, and under general incandescent lighting. Different methods of digital image processing included color calibration, white reference normalization, both color calibration and white reference normalization, or no processing. The smartphones exhibited proprietary standard photo processing upon image capture and were only subject to white reference normalization or kept without further processing.

The study findings demonstrated that a two-week supplementation with a cold-pressed carrot-based FV juice appeared to increase skin carotenoid status in the palm when measured by spectrophotometry. Inclusively, a responder relationship was identified across participants. A lack of change for cheek and top of the hand measurements for skin coloration suggests that supplementation dosage or duration was insufficient for a substantial deposition of carotenoids in these areas. Accordingly, perceived health and attractiveness did not change. Although the literature suggests carotenoid intake improves perceived health and attractiveness, this thesis study suggests that changes in perceived health and attractiveness only occur after longer than two weeks of increased carotenoid intake. It may also have to do with the method of perception analysis used, having participants rate facial images from 1-10 rather than having participants choose the healthiest looking or most attractive photo between baseline and endpoint photos. The Canon and

smartphone camera image analysis was able to detect similar changes in skin carotenoid status of the palm and top of the hand under specific lighting conditions but did not show strong correlations for the cheek region analysis. White reference normalization of images helped to standardize color values across devices. There were no significant differences in nutrient profile, FV serving consumption, or other subject characteristics.

This thesis presents the first study to compare digital camera and smartphone camera image capture and analysis against spectrophotometric analysis for carotenoid status assessment. It is also the first study to demonstrate detectable changes following two-weeks of carotenoid supplementation. Some limitations include compliance monitoring, a small sample size, the perception assessment method used, and the short intervention period. More research is needed to determine: (a) the optimal dosage and timeframe to improve carotenoid deposition; (b) establish differences between responders and non-responders; (c) identify optimal image processing and capture conditions for any image capture device; (d) determine the threshold for changes in perceived health and attractiveness according to carotenoid associated skin coloration; (e) and determine how effective an intervention utilizing these tools could be for improving FV intake. Additionally, criteria to establish validation of digital imaging for carotenoid status assessment still needs to be studied by examining methodological issues such as precision, reproducibility, etc.

The use of smartphone cameras as a more convenient and practical way of image capture for skin carotenoid assessment appears viable; however, some major obstacles are the variations in coloration that each device demonstrates under different illumination conditions and the proprietary image processing and color calibration and/or white balance procedures that each smartphone exhibits. If smartphone images could be taken in a raw format that takes in all the visual information without enacting any processing, as was done with the Canon camera, then proper standardized processing could be done in the same manner as with the Canon camera. Ideally, the process of raw image capture, standard processing, and color analysis would be completed within the same device for a cheaper and more accessible alternative to reflectance spectroscopy measures of carotenoid associated skin yellow coloration (b\*).

## References

Aasen, T., Mesnil, M., Naus, C. C., Lampe, P. D., & Laird, D. W. (January 01, 2016). Gap junctions and cancer: communicating for 50 years. *Nature Reviews. Cancer, 16,* 12, 775-788.

Abar, L., Vieira, A. R., Aune, D., Stevens, C., Vingeliene, S., Navarro, R. D. A., Chan, D., ... Norat, T. (August 01, 2016). Blood concentrations of carotenoids and retinol and lung cancer risk: an update of the WCRF-AICR systematic review of published prospective studies. *Cancer Medicine*, *5*, 8, 2069-2083.

Abate-Pella, D., Freund, D. M., Slovin, J. P., Hegeman, A. D., & Cohen, J. D. (November 01, 2017). An improved method for fast and selective separation of carotenoids by LC-MS. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 1067, 34-37.

Abbott, L. M., & Smith, S. D. (January 02, 2018). Smartphone apps for skin cancer diagnosis: Implications for patients and practitioners. *The Australasian Journal of Dermatology*.

Akbaraly, T. N., Fontbonne, A., Favier, A., & Berr, C. (January 01, 2008). Plasma carotenoids and onset of dysglycemia in an elderly population: results of the Epidemiology of Vascular Ageing Study. *Diabetes Care, 31*, 7, 1355-9.

Alaluf, S., Heinrich, U., Stahl, W., Tronnier, H., & Wiseman, S. (January 01, 2002). Dietary carotenoids contribute to normal human skin color and UV photosensitivity. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *132*, 3, 399-403.

Albahri, A. S., Zaidan, A. A., Albahri, O. S., Zaidan, B. B., & Alsalem, M. A. (August 01, 2018). Real-Time Fault-Tolerant mHealth System: Comprehensive Review of Healthcare Services, Opens Issues, Challenges and Methodological Aspects. *Journal of Medical Systems, 42,* 8, 1-56.

Alonso-Alvarez, C., & Galván, I. (January 01, 2011). Free radical exposure creates paler carotenoid-based ornaments: a possible interaction in the expression of black and red traits. *Plos One*, *6*, 4.)

Al-Delaimy, W. K., Kappel, A. L., Ferrari, P., Slimani, N., Steghens, J. P., Bingham, S., Johansson, I., ... Riboli, E. (January 01, 2004). Plasma levels of six carotenoids in nine European countries: report from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). *Public Health Nutrition*, *7*, 6.)

American Diabetes Association. (January 01, 2007). Nutrition Recommendations and Interventions for Diabetes: a position statement of the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care, 30,* 48-65.

Aran, D., Lasry, A., Zinger, A., Biton, M., Pikarsky, E., Hellman, A., Butte, A. J., ... Ben-Neriah, Y. (January 01, 2016). Widespread parainflammation in human cancer. *Genome Biology*, *17*, 1.)

Aune, D., Giovannucci, E., Boffetta, P., Fadnes, L. T., Keum, N., Norat, T., Greenwood, D. C., ... Tonstad, S. (February 22, 2017). Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality-a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *International Journal of Epidemiology*.

Azagba, S., & Sharaf, M. F. (January 01, 2011). Disparities in the frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption by socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics in Canada. *Nutrition Journal*, *10*.

Baldrick, F. R., Woodside, J. V., Elborn, J. S., Young, I. S., & McKinley, M. C. (January 01, 2011). Biomarkers of fruit and vegetable intake in human intervention studies: a systematic review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *51*, 9.)

Beatty, S., Chakravarthy, U., Nolan, J. M., Muldrew, K. A., Woodside, J. V., Denny, F., & Stevenson, M. R. (January 01, 2013). Secondary outcomes in a clinical trial of carotenoids with coantioxidants versus placebo in early age-related macular degeneration. *Ophthalmology*, *120*, 3, 600-6.

Benetou, V., Orfanos, P., Feskanich, D., Michaëlsson, K., Pettersson-Kymmer, U., Eriksson, S., Grodstein, F., ... Trichopoulou, A. (January 01, 2016). Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Hip Fracture Incidence in Older Men and Women: The CHANCES Project. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research: the Official Journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, 31*, 9, 1743-52.

Bennekum, A. V., Werder, M., Thuahnai, S. T., Han, C. H., Duong, P., Williams, D. L., Wettstein, P., ... Hauser, H. (January 01, 2005). Class B scavenger receptor-mediated intestinal absorption of dietary beta-carotene and cholesterol. *Biochemistry*, *44*, 11, 4517-25.

Bertram, J. S., & Vine, A. L. (January 01, 2005). Cancer prevention by retinoids and carotenoids: Independent action on a common target. *Bba - Molecular Basis of Disease*, *1740*, 2, 170-178.

Black, J. L., & Billette, J.-M. (January 01, 2013). Do Canadians meet Canada's Food Guide's recommendations for fruits and vegetables?. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism, 38*, 3, 234-242.

Blount J. D. & McGraw K. J. (March 18, 2009). Signal Functions of Carotenoid Colouration In Bartley, G. E (Ed), *Carotenoids, Volume 4: Natural Functions* (213-236). Journal-American Chemical Society, *131*, 10, 3788.

Boffetta, P., Couto, E., Wichmann, J., Ferrari, P., Trichopoulos, D., Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B., van, D. F. J. B., ... Trichopoulou, A. (January 01, 2010). Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Overall Cancer Risk in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *102*, 8, 529-537.

Bohn, T., Desmarchelier, C., Dragsted, L. O., Nielsen, C. S., Stahl, W., Rühl, R., Keijer, J., ... Borel, P. (June 01, 2017). Host-related factors explaining interindividual variability of carotenoid bioavailability and tissue concentrations in humans. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *61*, 6.)

Boileau, T. W. M., Moore, A. C., and Erdman, J. W. Jr. (1999). Carotenoids and Vitamin A. In Antioxidant Status, Diet, Nutrition and Health. pp. 133–158. Papas, A. M., Ed., CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Bone R., Landrum J., Mayne S., Gomez C., Tibor S., Twaroska E. (January 2001). Macular pigment in donor eyes with and without AMD: a case-controlled study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sc, 42, 235–40.

Borel, P., Tyssandier, V., Mekki, N., Grolier, P., Rochette, Y., Alexandre-Gouabau, M. C., Lairon, D., ... Azaïs-Braesco, V. (January 01, 1998). Chylomicron beta-carotene and retinyl palmitate responses are dramatically diminished when men ingest beta-carotene with medium-chain rather than long-chain triglycerides. *The Journal of Nutrition, 128, 8, 1361-7.* 

Brown, M. J., Ferruzzi, M. G., Nguyen, M. L., Cooper, D. A., Eldridge, A. L., Schwartz, S. J., & White, W. S. (January 01, 2004). Carotenoid bioavailability is higher from salads ingested with full-fat than with fat-reduced salad dressings as measured with electrochemical detection. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *80*, 2, 396-403.

Burrows, T., Williams, R., Rollo, M., Wood, L., Garg, M., Jensen, M., & Collins, C. (December 01, 2014). Plasma carotenoid levels as biomarkers of dietary carotenoid consumption: A systematic review of the validation studies. *Journal of Nutrition & Intermediary Metabolism, 1*, 47.

Butalla, A. C., Crane, T. E., Patil, B., Wertheim, B. C., Thompson, P., & Thomson, C. A. (February 01, 2012). Effects of a Carrot Juice Intervention on Plasma Carotenoids, Oxidative Stress, and Inflammation in Overweight Breast Cancer Survivors. *Nutrition and Cancer*, *64*, 2, 331-341.

Butnariu M (2016) Methods of Analysis (Extraction, Separation, Identification and Quantification) of Carotenoids from Natural Products. J Ecosys Ecograph 6: 193. doi:10.4172/2157-7625.1000193

Chandra, S., Keluskar, V., Naik, Z., Sah, K., Shetty, A., Ammanagi, R., & Bagewadi, A. (January 01, 2012). Additive and synergistic effect of phytochemicals in prevention of oral cancer. *European Journal of General Dentistry*, *1*, 3, 142.

Cherubini, A., Ruggiero, C., Morand, C., Lattanzio, F., Dell'Aquila, G., Zuliani, G., Di Iorio, A., Andres-Lacueva, C. (2008). Dietary antioxidants as potential pharmacological agents for ischemic stroke. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, *15* (12), 1236-1248.

Choi, Y., Lee, J. E., Bae, J. M., Li, Z. M., Kim, D. H., Lee, M. S., Ahn, Y. O., ... Shin, M. H. (January 01, 2015). Vegetable intake, but not fruit intake, is associated with a reduction in the risk of cancer incidence and mortality in middle-aged Korean men. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *145*, 6, 1249-55.

Chung, H. Y., Rasmussen, H. M., & Johnson, E. J. (January 01, 2004). Lutein bioavailability is higher from lutein-enriched eggs than from supplements and spinach in men. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134, 8, 1887-93.

Cocate, P. G., Natali, A. J., Alfenas, R. C., de, O. A., dos, S. E. C., & Hermsdorff, H. H. (January 01, 2015). Carotenoid consumption is related to lower lipid oxidation and DNA damage in middleaged men. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, *114*, 2, 257-64. Coetzee V, Perrett DI. (2014). Effect of beta-carotene supplementation on African skin. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*. 19:025004.

Cromey, D. W. (January 01, 2013). Digital images are data: and should be treated as such. *Methods in Molecular Biology (clifton, N.j.), 931,* 1-27.

Curtin, F., & Schulz, P. (January 01, 1998). Multiple correlations and bonferroni's correction. *Biological Psychiatry*, 44, 8, 775-777.

Darvin, M. E., Fluhr, J. W., Schanzer, S., Richter, H., Patzelt, A., Meinke, M. C., Zastrow, L., ... Lademann, J. (January 01, 2011). Dermal carotenoid level and kinetics after topical and systemic administration of antioxidants: Enrichment strategies in a controlled in vivo study. *Journal of Dermatological Science*, 64, 1, 53-58.

Dass, C. (2007). Fundamentals of contemporary mass spectrometry. Hoboken, N.J: Wiley-Interscience.

Druesne-Pecollo, N., Latino-Martel, P., Norat, T., Barrandon, E., Bertrais, S., Galan, P., & Hercberg, S. (January 01, 2010). Beta-carotene supplementation and cancer risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *International Journal of Cancer, 127,* 1, 172-84.

Collins, A. R., Olmedilla, B., Southon, S., Granado, F., & Duthie, S. J. (January 01, 1998). Serum carotenoids and oxidative DNA damage in human lymphocytes. *Carcinogenesis, 19,* 12, 2159-62.

Couillard, C., Lemieux, S., Vohl, M. C., Couture, P., & Lamarche, B. (January 01, 2016). Carotenoids as biomarkers of fruit and vegetable intake in men and women. *The British Journal of Nutrition, 116, 7,* 1206-1215.

Darvin, M. E., Zastrow, L., Sterry, W., & Lademann, J. (January 01, 2006). Effect of Supplemented and Topically Applied Antioxidant Substances on Human Tissue. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, *19*, 5, 238-247.

Dehghan, M., Akhtar-Danesh, N., & Merchant, A. T. (January 01, 2011). Factors associated with fruit and vegetable consumption among adults. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics : the Official Journal of the British Dietetic Association, 24, 2, 128-34.  $\rightarrow$  sinlge/unmarried, educated, non-smoker/drinkers consumed more vegetables

Eichelmann, F., Schwingshackl, L., Fedirko, V., & Aleksandrova, K. (November 01, 2016). Effect of plant-based diets on obesity-related inflammatory profiles: a systematic review and metaanalysis of intervention trials. *Obesity Reviews*, *17*, 11, 1067-1079.

Ekwaru, J. P., Ohinmaa, A., Loehr, S., Setayeshgar, S., Thanh, N. X., & Veugelers, P. J. (January 01, 2017). The economic burden of inadequate consumption of vegetables and fruit in Canada. *Public Health Nutrition, 20, 3,* 515-523.

Ermakov, I. V., Ermakova, M. R., McClane, R. W., & Gellermann, W. (January 01, 2001). Resonance Raman detection of carotenoid antioxidants in living human tissues. *Optics Letters, 26,* 15, 1179-81.

Ermakov, I. V., & Gellermann, W. (April 15, 2015). Optical detection methods for carotenoids in human skin. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 572, 101-111.

Ermakov, I. V., & Gellermann, W. (July 01, 2012). Dermal carotenoid measurements via pressure mediated reflection spectroscopy. *Journal of Biophotonics*, *5*, *7*, 559-570.

Evans, R., Kawabata, M., & Thomas, S. (September 01, 2015). Prediction of fruit and vegetable intake: The importance of contextualizing motivation. *British Journal of Health Psychology, 20, 3,* 534-548.

Daniels, J. A., Mulligan, C., McCance, D., Woodside, J. V., Patterson, C., Young, I. S., & McEneny, J. (January 01, 2014). A randomised controlled trial of increasing fruit and vegetable intake and how this influences the carotenoid concentration and activities of PON-1 and LCAT in HDL from subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, *13* 

Darvin, M., Zastrow, L., Sterry, W., & Lademann, J. (January 01, 2006). Effect of Supplemented and Topically Applied Antioxidant Substances on Human Tissue. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, *19*, 5, 238-247.

Djuric, Z., Bassis, C. M., Plegue, M. A., Ren, J., Chan, R., Sidahmed, E. K., Turgeon, D. K., ... Sen, A. (April 01, 2018). Colonic Mucosal Bacteria Are Associated with Inter-Individual Variability in Serum Carotenoid Concentrations. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 118,* 4, 606.

Donaldson, M. S. (January 01, 2011). A carotenoid health index based on plasma carotenoids and health outcomes. Nutrients, 3, 12, 1003-22.

Donhowe, E. G., & Kong, F. (February 01, 2014). Beta-carotene: Digestion, Microencapsulation, and In Vitro Bioavailability. *Food and Bioprocess Technology: an International Journal*, 7, 2, 338-354.

Druesne-Pecollo, N., Latino-Martel, P., Norat, T., Barrandon, E., Bertrais, S., Galan, P., & Hercberg, S. (July 01, 2010). Beta-carotene supplementation and cancer risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *International Journal of Cancer, 127,* 1, 172-184.

Dwyer, J. H., Paul-Labrador, M. J., Fan, J., Shircore, A. M., Merz, C. N., & Dwyer, K. M. (January 01, 2004). Progression of carotid intima-media thickness and plasma antioxidants: the Los Angeles Atherosclerosis Study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 24, 2*, 313-9.

Edwards, A. J., Nguyen, C. H., You, C.-S., Swanson, J. E., Emenhiser, C., & Parker, R. S. (February 01, 2002).  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -Carotene from a Commercial Carrot Puree Are More Bioavailable to Humans than from Boiled-Mashed Carrots, as Determined Using an Extrinsic Stable Isotope Reference Method. *The Journal of Nutrition, 132, 2, 159-167.* 

Faulks, R. M., & Southon, S. (January 01, 2005). Challenges to understanding and measuring carotenoid bioavailability. *Bba - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1740, 2*, 95-100.

Fiedor, J., & Burda, K. (2014). Potential Role of Carotenoids as Antioxidants in Human Health and Disease. *Nutrients*, 6(2), 466–488.

Fitzmaurice, C., Allen, C., Barber, R. M., Barregard, L., Bhutta, Z. A., Brenner, H., Dicker, D. J., ... Naghavi, M. (April 01, 2017). Global, Regional, and National Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Years of Life Lost, Years Lived With Disability, and Disability-Adjusted Life-years for 32 Cancer Groups, 1990 to 2015. *Jama Oncology*, *3*, 4, 524.

Foo, Y. Z., Rhodes, G., & Simmons, L. W. (February 13, 2017). The carotenoid beta-carotene enhances facial color, attractiveness and perceived health, but not actual health, in humans. *Behavioral Ecology*.

Forouzanfar, M. H., Afshin, A., Alexander, L. T., Anderson, H. R., Bhutta, Z. A., Biryukov, S., Brauer, M., ... Murray, C. J. L. (January 01, 2016). Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet, 388*, 10053, 1659-1724

Franceschi, C., & Campisi, J. (January 01, 2014). Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 69,* 4-9.

Galan, P., Viteri, F. E., Bertrais, S., Czernichow, S., Faure, H., Arnaud, J., Ruffieux, D., ... Hercberg, S. (January 01, 2005). Serum concentrations of beta-carotene, vitamins C and E, zinc and selenium are influenced by sex, age, diet, smoking status, alcohol consumption and corpulence in a general French adult population. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *59*, 10, 1181-90.

Garcia, A. L., Koebnick, C., Dagnelie, P. C., Strassner, C., Elmadfa, I., Katz, N., Leitzmann, C., ... Hoffmann, I. (June 21, 2008). Long-term strict raw food diet is associated with favourable plasma  $\beta$ -carotene and low plasma lycopene concentrations in Germans. *British Journal of Nutrition, 99,* 6.)

Garcia-de, B. E., Mateo, R., & Alonso-Alvarez, C. (January 01, 2015). Accumulation of dietary carotenoids, retinoids and tocopherol in the internal tissues of a bird: a hypothesis for the cost of producing colored ornaments. *Oecologia*, *177*, 1, 259-71

Gentili, A., & Caretti, F. (January 01, 2011). Evaluation of a method based on liquid chromatography-diode array detector-tandem mass spectrometry for a rapid and comprehensive characterization of the fat-soluble vitamin and carotenoid profile of selected plant foods. *Journal of Chromatography. A*, 1218, 5, 684-97.

George, T. W., Paterson, E., Waroonphan, S., Gordon, M. H., & Lovegrove, J. A. (October 01, 2012). Effects of chronic consumption of fruit and vegetable puree-based drinks on vasodilation,

plasma oxidative stability and antioxidant status. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 25, 5,* 477-487.

Gey, K. F., Stähelin, H. B., & Eichholzer, M. (January 01, 1993). Poor plasma status of carotene and vitamin C is associated with higher mortality from ischemic heart disease and stroke: Basel Prospective Study. *The Clinical Investigator*, *71*, 1, 3-6.

Goñi, I., Serrano, J., & Saura-Calixto, F. (July 01, 2006). Bioaccessibility of  $\beta$ -Carotene, Lutein, and Lycopene from Fruits and Vegetables. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 15, 5382-5387.

Starek, M., Guja, A., Dąbrowska, M., & Krzek, J. (May 01, 2015). Assay of β-Carotene in Dietary Supplements and Fruit Juices by TLC-Densitometry. *Food Analytical Methods*, *8*, 5, 1347-1355.

Ha, L., Sakhi, A. K., Bøhn, S. K., Flekkøy, K., Blomhoff, R., Iversen, P. O., & Hauge, T. (January 01, 2011). Antioxidant status after an acute stroke and the association with survival in elderly at nutritional risk. *E-spen, the European E-Journal of Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism, 6*, 3.)

Hadley, C. W., Clinton, S. K., & Schwartz, S. J. (January 01, 2003). The consumption of processed tomato products enhances plasma lycopene concentrations in association with a reduced lipoprotein sensitivity to oxidative damage. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *133*, 3, 727-32.

Haldar, S., Rowland, I. R., Barnett, Y. A., Bradbury, I., Robson, P. J., Powell, J., & Fletcher, J. (January 01, 2007). Influence of habitual diet on antioxidant status: a study in a population of vegetarians and omnivores. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 61,* 8, 1011-22.

Hall, J. N., Moore, S., Harper, S. B., & Lynch, J. W. (January 01, 2009). Global variability in fruit and vegetable consumption. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 36, 5, 402-409.

Harnden, K. E., Frayn, K. N., & Hodson, L. (February 01, 2010). Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet: applicability and acceptability to a UK population. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 23, 1, 3-10.

Hartley, L., Igbinedion, E., Holmes, J., Flowers, N., Thorogood, M., Clarke, A., Stranges, S., ... Rees, K. (June 04, 2013). Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables for the primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6.)

Hata, T. R., Scholz, T. A., Pershing, L. K., Ermakov, I. V., McClane, R. W., Khachik, F., & Gellermann, W. (September 01, 2000). Non-Invasive Raman Spectroscopic Detection of Carotenoids in Human Skin. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *115*, 3, 441-448.

Haught, J., MD, Patel, S., MD, & English, J., MD. (2007). Xanthoderma: A clinical review. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *57*(6), 1051-1058. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2007.06.011

Hercberg, S., Kesse-Guyot, E., Druesne-Pecollo, N., Touvier, M., Favier, A., Latino-Martel, P., Briançon, S., ... Galan, P. (October 15, 2010). Incidence of cancers, ischemic cardiovascular diseases and mortality during 5-year follow-up after stopping antioxidant vitamins and minerals

supplements: A postintervention follow-up in the SU.VI.MAX Study. International Journal of Cancer, 127, 8, 1875-1881.

Hickenbottom, S. J., Lemke, S. L., Dueker, S. R., Lin, Y., Follett, J. R., Carkeet, C., Buchholz, B. A., ... Clifford, A. J. (January 01, 2002). Dual isotope test for assessing beta-carotene cleavage to vitamin A in humans. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *41*, 4, 141-7.

Hogg, R. E., Woodside, J. V., McGrath, A., Young, I. S., Vioque, J. L., Chakravarthy, U., de, J. P. T., ... Fletcher, A. E. (January 01, 2017). Mediterranean Diet Score and Its Association with Age-Related Macular Degeneration: The European Eye Study. *Ophthalmology*, *124*, 1, 82-89.

Hounsome, N., Hounsome, B., Tomos, D., & Edwards-Jones, G. (May 01, 2008). Plant Metabolites and Nutritional Quality of Vegetables. *Journal of Food Science*, 73, 4.)

Hoy, M., Goldman, J., & Sebastian, R. (2016). Fruit and vegetable intake of US adults estimated by two methods: What We Eat In America, National Health and Nutrition Examindation Survey 2009-2012. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(14), 2508-2512.

Hozawa, A., Jacobs, D. R. J., Steffes, M. W., Gross, M. D., Steffen, L. M., & Lee, D. H. (January 01, 2007). Relationships of circulating carotenoid concentrations with several markers of inflammation, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA)/Young Adult Longitudinal Trends in Antioxidants (YALTA) study. *Clinical Chemistry*, 53, 3, 447-55

Hughes, D. A., Wright, A. J. A., Finglas, P. M., Peerless, A. C. J., Bailey, A. L., Astley, S. B., Pinder, A. C., ... Southon, S. (January 01, 1997). The effect of  $\beta$ -carotene supplementation on the immune function of blood monocytes from healthy male nonsmokers. *The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, 129, 3, 309-317

Iversen, P. O., Ha, L., Blomhoff, R., Hauge, T., & Veierød, M. B. (July 01, 2014). Baseline oxidative defense and survival after 5-7 years among elderly stroke patients at nutritional risk: Follow-up of a randomized, nutritional intervention trial. *Clinical Nutrition (edinburgh, Scotland), 34*, 4, 775-8.

Jahns, L., Johnson, L. K., Mayne, S. T., Cartmel, B., Picklo, M. J., Ermakov, I. V., Gellermann, W., ... Whigham, L. D. (August 20, 2014). Skin and plasma carotenoid response to a provided intervention diet high in vegetables and fruit: uptake and depletion kinetics. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100, 3, 930-937

Karlsson, F. H., Fåk, F., Nookaew, I., Tremaroli, V., Fagerberg, B., Petranovic, D., Bäckhed, F., ... Nielsen, J. (December 04, 2012). Symptomatic atherosclerosis is associated with an altered gut metagenome. *Nature Communications*, *3*, 1245.

Kassebaum, N. J., Arora, M., Barber, R. M., Bhutta, Z. A., Carter, A., Casey, D. C., Charlson, F. J., ... Murray, C. J. L. (January 01, 2016). Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted lifeyears (DALYs) for 315 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE), 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet, 388*, 10053, 1603-1658 Kingsbury, M., Dupuis, G., Roy-Gagnon, M.-H., McMartin, S. E., Colman, I., & Jacka, F. (August 26, 2015). Associations between fruit and vegetable consumption and depressive symptoms: Evidence from a national Canadian longitudinal survey. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 70, 2, 155-161.

Kiokias S, Proestos C, Varzakas T. (March 2016). A Review of the Structure, Biosynthesis, Absorption of Carotenoids-Analysis and Properties of their Common Natural Extracts. Curr Res Nutr Food Sci 2016;4 (Special Issue 1), 25-37.

Konica Minolta Sensing Inc. (2007). *PRECISE COLOR COMMUNICATION: COLOR CONTROL FROM PERCEPTION TO INSTRUMENTATION*. Retrieved from: https://www.konicaminolta.com/instruments/knowledge/color/index.html

Kupiec, T. P. (January 01, 2004). Quality-control analytical methods: high-performance liquid chromatography. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Compounding*, *8*, 3.)

Kvansakul, J., Rodriguez-Carmona, M., Edgar, D. F., Barker, F. M., Köpcke, W., Schalch, W., & Barbur, J. L. (July 01, 2006). Supplementation with the carotenoids lutein or zeaxanthin improves human visual performance. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics, 26,* 4, 362-371.

Lademann, J., Meinke, M. C., Sterry, W., & Darvin, M. E. (January 01, 2011). Carotenoids in human skin. *Experimental Dermatology*, 20, 5.)

Lademann, J., Richter, H., Patzelt, A., Darvin, M., Sterry, W., Fluhr, J. W., Caspers, P. J., ... Zastrow, L. (January 01, 2009). In vivo Raman spectroscopy detects increased epidermal antioxidative potential with topically applied carotenoids. *Laser Physics Letters*, *6*, 1, 76-79.

LaRose, J. G., Leahey, T. M., Hill, J. O., & Wing, R. R. (January 01, 2013). Differences in motivations and weight loss behaviors in young adults and older adults in the National Weight Control Registry. *Obesity (silver Spring, Md.), 21,* 3, 449-53.

Leenders, M., Boshuizen, H. C., Ferrari, P., Siersema, P. D., Overvad, K., Tjønneland, A., Olsen, A., ... Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B. (September 01, 2014). Fruit and vegetable intake and cause-specific mortality in the EPIC study. *European Journal of Epidemiology: Affiliated to the European Epidemiology Federation*, 29, 9, 639-652.

Lefevre, C. E., & Perrett, D. I. (February 01, 2015). Fruit over sunbed: Carotenoid skin colouration is found more attractive than melanin colouration. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *68*, 2, 284-293.

Li, B., Ahmed, F., & Bernstein, P. S. (January 01, 2010). Studies on the singlet oxygen scavenging mechanism of human macular pigment. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 504, 1, 56-60.

Li, B., Li, F., Wang, L., & Zhang, D. (May 01, 2016). Fruit and Vegetables Consumption and Risk of Hypertension: A Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension, 18,* 5, 468-476.

Li, M., Fan, Y., Zhang, X., Hou, W., & Tang, Z. (January 01, 2014). Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Bmj Open, 4*, 11.)

Lim, S. S., Vos, T., Flaxman, A. D., Danaei, G., Shibuya, K., Adair-Rohani, H., Amann, M., ... Memish, Z. A. (January 01, 2012). A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet (london, England)*, 380, 9859, 2224-60.

Liu, D., Shi, J., Colina, I. A., Kakuda, Y., & Jun, X. S. (September 01, 2008). The scavenging capacity and synergistic effects of lycopene, vitamin E, vitamin C, and  $\beta$ -carotene mixtures on the DPPH free radical. *Lwt - Food Science and Technology*, *41*, 7, 1344-1349.

Liu, S., Ajani, U., Chae, C., Hennekens, C., Buring, J. E., & Manson, J. E. (January 01, 1999). Long-term beta-carotene supplementation and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama, 282,* 11, 1073-5.

Lobo, G. P., Amengual, J., Baus, D., Shivdasani, R. A., Taylor, D., & von, L. J. (January 01, 2013). Genetics and diet regulate vitamin A production via the homeobox transcription factor ISX. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288, 13, 9017-27.

Ma, L., Yan, S. F., Huang, Y. M., Lu, X. R., Qian, F., Pang, H. L., Xu, X. R., ... Lin, X. M. (January 01, 2012). Effect of lutein and zeaxanthin on macular pigment and visual function in patients with early age-related macular degeneration. *Ophthalmology*, *119*, 11, 2290-7.

Maderuelo-Fernandez, J. A., Recio-Rodríguez, J. I., Patino-Alonso, M. C., Pérez-Arechaederra, D., Rodriguez-Sanchez, E., Gomez-Marcos, M. A., & García-Ortiz, L. (January 01, 2015). Effectiveness of interventions applicable to primary health care settings to promote Mediterranean diet or healthy eating adherence in adults: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, *76*, 39-55.

Mahler, H. I. M., Kulik, J. A., Gerrard, M., & Gibbons, F. X. (January 01, 2007). Long-Term Effects of Appearance-Based Interventions on Sun Protection Behaviors. *Health Psychology Hillsdale Then Washington Dc-*, 26, 3, 350-360.

Maiani, G., Castón, M. J., Catasta, G., Toti, E., Cambrodón, I. G., Bysted, A., Granado-Lorencio, F., ... Schlemmer, U. (January 01, 2009). Carotenoids: actual knowledge on food sources, intakes, stability and bioavailability and their protective role in humans. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *53*, 194-218.

Männistö, S., Smith-Warner, S. A., Spiegelman, D., Albanes, D., Anderson, K., van, B. P. A., Cerhan, J. R., ... Hunter, D. J. (January 01, 2004). Dietary carotenoids and risk of lung cancer in a pooled analysis of seven cohort studies. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention: a Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 13*, 1, 40-8

Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., & Balkwill, F. (January 01, 2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*, 454, 7203, 436-44.

Mares, J. (July 17, 2016). Lutein and Zeaxanthin Isomers in Eye Health and Disease. *Annual Review of Nutrition, 36,* 571-602.

Mariakakis, A. Banks, M. A., Phillipi, L., Yu, L., Taylor, J., and Patel, S. N. (May, 2017). BiliScreen: SmartphoneBased Scleral Jaundice Monitoring for Liver and Pancreatic Disorders. Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol. 1, 2, Article 20.

Martini, L. A., Catania, A. S., & Ferreira, S. R. G. (June 01, 2010). Role of vitamins and minerals in prevention and management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition Reviews, 68,* 6, 341-354.

Massenti, R., Perrone, A., Livrea, M. A., & Lo, B. R. (January 01, 2015). Regular consumption of fresh orange juice increases human skin carotenoid content. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 66,* 6, 718-21.

Mayne, S. T., Cartmel, B., Scarmo, S., Jahns, L., Ermakov, I. V., & Gellermann, W. (January 01, 2013). Resonance Raman spectroscopic evaluation of skin carotenoids as a biomarker of carotenoid status for human studies. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *539*, 2, 163-70.

Mayne, S. T., Cartmel, B., Scarmo, S., Lin, H., Leffell, D. J., Welch, E., Ermakov, I., ... Gellermann, W. (January 01, 2010). Noninvasive assessment of dermal carotenoids as a biomarker of fruit and vegetable intake. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *92*, 4, 794-800.

Mazzocchi, M., Brasili, C., & Sandri, E. (January 01, 2008). Trends in dietary patterns and compliance with World Health Organization recommendations: a cross-country analysis. *Public Health Nutrition*, *11*, 5, 535-40.

McMartin, S. E., Jacka, F. N., & Colman, I. (March 01, 2013). The association between fruit and vegetable consumption and mental health disorders: Evidence from five waves of a national survey of Canadians. *Preventive Medicine*, *56*, 225-230.

Mendoza, F., Dejmek, P., & Aguilera, J. M. (January 01, 2006). Calibrated color measurements of agricultural foods using image analysis. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, *41*, 3, 285-295.

Micha, R., Khatibzadeh, S., Shi, P., Andrews, K. G., Engell, R. E., Mozaffarian, D., & Global Burden of Diseases Nutrition and Chronic Diseases Expert Group (NutriCoDE). (January 01, 2015). Global, regional and national consumption of major food groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis including 266 country-specific nutrition surveys worldwide. *Bmj Open*, *5*, 9.)

Miller, V., Mente, A., Dehghan, M., Rangarajan, S., Zhang, X., Swaminathan, S., Dagenais, G., ... Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study investigators. (August 28, 2017). Fruit, vegetable, and legume intake, and cardiovascular disease and deaths in 18 countries (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet (london, England)*.

Mirmiran, P., Khalili, M. S., Bahadoran, Z., Tohidi, M., & Azizi, F. (April 01, 2016). Association of dietary carotenoids and the incidence of insulin resistance in adults: Tehran lipid and glucose study. *Nutrition & Dietetics*, *73*, 2, 162-168.

Mokhtar, M., Russo, M., Cacciola, F., Donato, P., Giuffrida, D., Riazi, A., Farnetti, S., ... Mondello, L. (May 01, 2016). Capsaicinoids and Carotenoids in *Capsicum annuum* L.: Optimization of the Extraction Method, Analytical Characterization, and Evaluation of its Biological Properties. *Food Analytical Methods*, *9*, *5*, 1381-1390.

Mukaka, M. M. (January 01, 2012). Statistics corner: A guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Medical Journal : the Journal of Medical Association of Malawi*, 24, 3, 69-71.

Musso, G., Gambino, R., & Cassader, M. (January 01, 2010). Obesity, diabetes, and gut microbiota: the hygiene hypothesis expanded?. *Diabetes Care, 33*, 10, 2277-84.

Nagao, A. (January 01, 2014). Bioavailability of dietary carotenoids: Intestinal absorption and metabolism. *Japan Agricultural Research Quarterly, 48,* 4, 385-392.

Nagao, T., Warnakulasuriya, S., Nakamura, T., Kato, S., Yamamoto, K., Fukano, H., Suzuki, K., ... Hashimoto, S. (April 01, 2015). Treatment of oral leukoplakia with a low-dose of beta-carotene and vitamin C supplements: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Cancer, 136*, 7, 1708-1717.

Namitha, K. K. & Negi, P. S. (2010) Chemistry and Biotechnology of Carotenoids, Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 50:8, 728-760, DOI: 10.1080/10408398.2010.499811

National Academy of Sciences (Institute of Medicine), Food and Nutrition Board, Panel on Dietary Antioxidants and Related Compounds (2000). Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

Nestor, M. S., Stillman, M. A., & Frisina, A. C. (January 01, 2010). Subjective and objective facial attractiveness: ratings and gender differences in objective appraisals of female faces. *The Journal of Clinical and Aesthetic Dermatology*, *3*, 12, 31-6.

Neville, C. E., Young, I. S., Gilchrist, S. E. C. M., McKinley, M. C., Gibson, A., Edgar, J. D., & Woodside, J. V. (January 01, 2014). Effect of increased fruit and vegetable consumption on bone turnover in older adults: a randomised controlled trial. *Osteoporosis International : with Other Metabolic Bone Diseases*, *25*, 1, 223-233.

Nolan, J. M., Kenny, R., O'Regan, C., Cronin, H., Loughman, J., Connolly, E. E., Kearney, P., ... Beatty, S. (January 01, 2010). Macular Pigment Optical Density in an Ageing Irish Population: The Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing. *Ophthalmic Research*, *44*, 2, 131-139.

Oncescu, V., O'Dell, D., & Erickson, D. (January 01, 2013). Smartphone based health accessory for colorimetric detection of biomarkers in sweat and saliva. *Lab on a Chip, 13,* 16, 3232-8.

Olmedilla, B., Granado, F., Blanco, I., & Rojas-Hidalgo, E. (January 01, 1994). Seasonal and sexrelated variations in six serum carotenoids, retinol, and alpha-tocopherol. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 60,* 1, 106-10. Olmedilla, B., Granado, F., Southon, S., Wright, A. J. A., Blanco, I., Gil-Martinez, E., Berg, H. ., ... Thurnham, D. I. (February 09, 2001). Serum concentrations of carotenoids and vitamins A, E, and C in control subjects from five European countries. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *85*, 2.)

Omenn, G. S., Goodman, G. E., Thornquist, M. D., Balmes, J., Cullen, M. R., Glass, A., Keogh, J. P., ... Hammar, S. (January 01, 1996). Effects of a combination of beta carotene and vitamin A on lung cancer and cardiovascular disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine, 334,* 18, 1150-5.

Osganian, S. K., Stampfer, M. J., Rimm, E., Spiegelman, D., Manson, J. E., & Willett, W. C. (January 01, 2003). Dietary carotenoids and risk of coronary artery disease in women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 6, 1390-9.

Palozza, P., Serini, S., Di, N. F., Piccioni, E., & Calviello, G. (January 01, 2003). Prooxidant effects of  $\beta$ -carotene in cultured cells. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 24, 6, 353-362.

Parletta, N., Milte, C. M., & Meyer, B. J. (May 01, 2013). Nutritional modulation of cognitive function and mental health. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 24, 5, 725-743.

Pathare, P. B., Opara, U. L., & Al-Said, F. A.-J. (January 01, 2013). Colour Measurement and Analysis in Fresh and Processed Foods: A Review. *Food and Bioprocess Technology : an International Journal*, *6*, 1, 36-60

Perez-Cornago, A., Travis, R. C., Appleby, P. N., Tsilidis, K. K., Tjønneland, A., Olsen, A., Overvad, K., ... Key, T. J. (January 01, 2017). Fruit and vegetable intake and prostate cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). *International Journal of Cancer*, *141*, 2, 287-297.

Pezdirc, K., Hutchesson, M. J., Whitehead, R., Ozakinci, G., Perrett, D., & Collins, C. E. (January 01, 2015). Fruit, Vegetable and Dietary Carotenoid Intakes Explain Variation in Skin-Color in Young Caucasian Women: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Nutrients*, *7*, 7, 5800-15.

Pezdirc, K., Hutchesson, M. J., Williams, R. L., Rollo, M. E., Burrows, T. L., Wood, L. G., Oldmeadow, C., ... Collins, C. E. (August 01, 2016). Consuming High-Carotenoid Fruit and Vegetables Influences Skin Yellowness and Plasma Carotenoids in Young Women: A Single-Blind Randomized Crossover Trial. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*, 8, 1257-1265

Poon, T. W. K., & Friesen, M. R. (January 01, 2015). Algorithms for Size and Color Detection of Smartphone Images of Chronic Wounds for Healthcare Applications. *Ieee Access, 3*, 1799-1808.

Popkin, B. M. (January 01, 2006). Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 84, 2, 289-98.

Prakash, P., Russell, R. M., & Krinsky, N. I. (January 01, 2001). In vitro inhibition of proliferation of estrogen-dependent and estrogen-independent human breast cancer cells treated with carotenoids or retinoids. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 131, 5, 1574-80.

Quach, A., Levine, M. E., Tanaka, T., Lu, A. T., Chen, B. H., Ferrucci, L., Ritz, B., ... Horvath, S. (February 14, 2017). Epigenetic clock analysis of diet, exercise, education, and lifestyle factors. *Aging*.

Raposo, M. F. D. J., & Morais, A. M. M. B. D. (March 15, 2015). Microalgae for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and stroke. *Life Sciences*, *125*, 32-41.

Reilly, M. P., Rohatgi, A., McMahon, K., Wolfe, M. L., Pinto, S. C., Rhodes, T., Girman, C., ... Rader, D. J. (January 01, 2007). Plasma cytokines, metabolic syndrome, and atherosclerosis in humans. *Journal of Investigative Medicine: the Official Publication of the American Federation for Clinical Research*, 55, 1, 26-35.

Rein, M. J., Renouf, M., Cruz-Hernandez, C., Actis-Goretta, L., Thakkar, S. K., & da, S. P. M. (January 01, 2013). Bioavailability of bioactive food compounds: a challenging journey to bioefficacy. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *75*, 3, 588-602.

Rodriguez-Casado, A. (January 01, 2016). The Health Potential of Fruits and Vegetables Phytochemicals: Notable Examples. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *56*, 7, 1097-107.

Rubin, L. P., Chan, G. M., Barrett-Reis, B. M., Fulton, A. B., Hansen, R. M., Ashmeade, T. L., Oliver, J. S., ... Adamkin, D. H. (January 01, 2012). Effect of carotenoid supplementation on plasma carotenoids, inflammation and visual development in preterm infants. *Journal of Perinatology: Official Journal of the California Perinatal Association, 32*, 6, 418-24.

Saini, R. K., Nile, S. H., & Park, S. W. (October 01, 2015). Carotenoids from fruits and vegetables: Chemistry, analysis, occurrence, bioavailability and biological activities. *Food Research International, 76,* 735-750.

Sari, Y. A., Ginardi, R. V. H., Sarno, R. (November 2013) Assessment of Color Levels in Leaf Color Chart Using Smartphone Camera with Relative Calibration. Information Systems International Conference. Retrieved from: http://is.its.ac.id/pubs/oajis/index.php/home/detail/1250/Assessment-of-Color-Levels-in-Leaf-Color-Chart-Using-Smartphone-Camera-with-Relative-Calibration

Saura-Calixto, F., Serrano, J., & Goñi, I. (January 01, 2007). Intake and bioaccessibility of total polyphenols in a whole diet. *Food Chemistry*, *101*, 2, 492-501.

Scanlon, G., Connell, P., Ratzlaff, M., Foerg, B., McCartney, D., Murphy, A., O, C. K., ... Loughman, J. (January 01, 2015). Macular Pigment Optical Density is Lower in Type 2 Diabetes, Compared with Type 1 Diabetes and Normal Controls. *Retina*, *35*, 9, 1808-1816.

Scott, R. P. W. (1986). Performance Criteria of Liquid Chromatography Detectors. In *Liquid* chromatography detectors. (7-48) Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Semer, N., Ellison, J., Mansell, C., Hoika, L., MacDougall, W., Gansky, S. A., & Walsh, M. M. (January 01, 2005). Development and evaluation of a tobacco cessation motivational program for

adolescents based on physical attractiveness and oral health. Journal of Dental Hygiene : Jdh, 79, 4.)

Shashirekha, M. N., Mallikarjuna, S. E., & Rajarathnam, S. (January 01, 2015). Status of bioactive compounds in foods, with focus on fruits and vegetables. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *55*, 10, 1324-39.

Shim, J.-S., Oh, K., & Kim, H. C. (July 22, 2014). Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology and Health*.

Shmarakov, I. O., Yuen, J. J., Blaner, W. S. (2013) Carotenoid Metabolism and Enzymology. In Tanumihardjo, S. A. (Ed.), *Carotenoids and Human Health*. (pp. 29-56) New York: Springer

Simons, M. J. P., Cohen, A. A., & Verhulst, S. (January 01, 2012). What does carotenoid-dependent coloration tell?: Plasma carotenoid level signals immunocompetence and oxidative stress state in birds - A meta-analysis. *Plos One*, *7*, 8.)

Sommer, A. (January 01, 2008). Vitamin a deficiency and clinical disease: an historical overview. *The Journal of Nutrition, 138,* 10, 1835-9.

Stahl, W., Heinrich, U., Jungmann, H., von, L. J., Schietzel, M., Sies, H., & Tronnier, H. (January 01, 1998). Increased dermal carotenoid levels assessed by noninvasive reflection spectrophotometry correlate with serum levels in women ingesting Betatene. *The Journal of Nutrition, 128, 5, 903-7.* 

Stahl, W., Nicolai, S., Briviba, K., Hanusch, M., Broszeit, G., Peters, M., Martin, H. D., ... Sies, H. (January 01, 1997). Biological activities of natural and synthetic carotenoids: induction of gap junctional communication and singlet oxygen quenching. *Carcinogenesis*, *18*, 1, 89-92.

Statistics Canada (2017). Health Fact Sheets: Fruit and vegetable consumption, 2015. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2017001/article/14764-eng.htm

Stephen, I. D., Coetzee, V., & Perrett, D. I. (January 01, 2011). Carotenoid and melanin pigment coloration affect perceived human health. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *32*, 3, 216-227.

Stephen, I. D., Oldham, F. H., Perrett, D. I., & Barton, R. A. (January 01, 2012). Redness enhances perceived aggression, dominance and attractiveness in men's faces. *Evolutionary Psychology : an International Journal of Evolutionary Approaches to Psychology and Behavior, 10*, 3, 562-72.

Tang, G. (2013) Kinetic Studies with Carotenoids. In Tanumihardjo, S. A. (Ed.), *Carotenoids and Human Health*. (pp. 29-56) New York: Springer

Takahashi, K., Kamada, C., Yoshimura, H., Okumura, R., Iimuro, S., Ohashi, Y., Araki, A., ... Japanese Elderly Diabetes Intervention Trial Study Group. (January 01, 2012). Effects of total and green vegetable intakes on glycated hemoglobin A1c and triglycerides in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: the Japanese Elderly Intervention Trial. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International, 12,* 50-8. Taylor, J. A., Stout, J. W., de, G. L., Goel, M., Patel, S., Chung, E. K., Koduri, A., ... Larson, E. C. (January 01, 2017). Use of a Smartphone App to Assess Neonatal Jaundice. *Pediatrics*, 140, 3.)

Teufel NI. (April 1997). Development of culturally competent food-frequency ques- tionnaires. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 65:1173S-1178S.

The Alpha-tocopherol, Beta-carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, 1994. The effect of vitamin E and  $\beta$ -carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. N. Engl. J. Med. 330, 1029–1035

Thiele, J. J., Weber, S. U., & Packer, L. (January 01, 1999). Sebaceous Gland Secretion is a Major Physiologic Route of Vitamin E Delivery to Skin. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 113,* 6, 1006-1010.

Tian, Li (2016) Carotenoids, Genetically Modified Foods, and Vitamin A Nutrition. In Watson, R. R., & Preedy, V. R. (2016). *Genetically modified organisms in food: Production, safety, regulation and public health*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.

Traill, W. B., Chambers, S. A., & Butler, L. (January 01, 2012). Attitudinal and demographic determinants of diet quality and implications for policy targeting. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 25,* 1.)

Traka, M., Gasper, A. V., Melchini, A., Bacon, J. R., Needs, P. W., Frost, V., Chantry, A., ... Mithen, R. F. (January 01, 2008). Broccoli consumption interacts with GSTM1 to perturb oncogenic signalling pathways in the prostate. *Plos One, 3*, 7.)

Traynor, M.M., Holowaty, P.H., Reid, D.J., and Gray-Donald, K. 2006. Vegetable and Fruit Food Frequency Questionnaire Serves as a Proxy for Quantified Intake. Can J Public Health. 97(4):286-90

Törrönen, R., Lehmusaho, M., Häkkinen, S., Hänninen, O., & Mykkänen, H. (January 01, 1996). Serum  $\beta$ -carotene response to supplementation with raw carrots, carrot juice or purified  $\beta$ -carotene in healthy non-smoking women. *Nutrition Research*, *16*, 4, 565-575.

Tyssandier, V., Reboul, E., Dumas, J. F., Bouteloup-Demange, C., Armand, M., Marcand, J., Sallas, M., ... Borel, P. (January 01, 2003). Processing of vegetable-borne carotenoids in the human stomach and duodenum. *American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 284, 6, 913-23.

Umeno, D., Tobias, A. V., & Arnold, F. H. (January 01, 2005). Diversifying carotenoid biosynthetic pathways by directed evolution. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews: Mmbr, 69,* 1, 51-78.

Vargas-Murga, L., de, R. V. V., Mercadante, A. Z., & Olmedilla-Alonso, B. (July 01, 2016). Fruits and vegetables in the Brazilian Household Budget Survey (2008-2009): carotenoid content and assessment of individual carotenoid intake. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 50, 88-96.

Wallace, I. R., McEvoy, C. T., Hunter, S. J., Hamill, L. L., Ennis, C. N., Bell, P. M., Patterson, C. C., ... McKinley, M. C. (January 01, 2013). Dose-response effect of fruit and vegetables on insulin resistance in people at high risk of cardiovascular disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care, 36,* 12, 3888-96.

Wang, P. Y., Fang, J. C., Gao, Z. H., Zhang, C., & Xie, S. Y. (January 01, 2016). Higher intake of fruits, vegetables or their fiber reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, *7*, 1, 56-69.

Wang, X., Ouyang, Y., Liu, J., Zhu, M., Zhao, G., Bao, W., & Hu, F. B. (July 29, 2014). Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Bmj*, 349.

Wang, Y., Chun, O., & Song, W. (August 31, 2013). Plasma and Dietary Antioxidant Status as Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors: A Review of Human Studies. *Nutrients, 5*, 8, 2969-3004

Welty, F. K., Alfaddagh, A., & Elajami, T. K. (January 01, 2016). Targeting inflammation in metabolic syndrome. *Translational Research*, *167*, 1, 257-280.

Whigham LD & Redelfs AH (August 2015) Optical detection of carotenoids in living tissue as a measure of fruit and vegetable intake. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc, 8197–8200.

White, P. J. F., Podaima, B. W., & Friesen, M. R. (January 01, 2014). Algorithms for Smartphone and Tablet Image Analysis for Healthcare Applications. *Ieee Access*, *2*, 831-840.

Whitehead, R. D., Coetzee, V., Ozakinci, G., & Perrett, D. I. (January 01, 2012a). Cross-cultural effects of fruit and vegetable consumption on skin color. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*, 2, 212-3.

Whitehead, R. D., Ozakinci, G., Stephen, I. D., & Perrett, D. I. (January 01, 2012b). Appealing to vanity: could potential appearance improvement motivate fruit and vegetable consumption?. American Journal of Public Health, 102, 2, 207-11.

Whitehead, R. D., Ozakinci, G., & Perrett, D. I. (January 01, 2014). A randomized controlled trial of an appearance-based dietary intervention. *Health Psychology : Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, *33*, 1, 99-102.

Whitehead, R. D., Perrett, D. I., & Ozakinci, G. (December 20, 2012c). Attractive Skin Coloration: Harnessing Sexual Selection to Improve Diet and Health. *Evolutionary Psychology*, *10*, 5.)

Whitehead, R. D., Re, D., Xiao, D., Ozakinci, G., Perrett, D. I., & Konigsberg, L. (March 07, 2012d). You Are What You Eat: Within-Subject Increases in Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Confer Beneficial Skin-Color Changes. *Plos One*, *7*, 3.)

Willett, W. (2012). Nutritional epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press.

Woodside, J. V., Draper, J., Lloyd, A., & McKinley, M. C. (January 01, 2017). Use of biomarkers to assess fruit and vegetable intake. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2017*, 1-8.

World Cancer Research Fund American Institution for Cancer Research (2007). Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Cancer: a Global Perspective. The Second Expert Report, AICR, Washington D.C.

World Health Organization. (2003). Diet, nutrition, and the prevention of chronic diseases: Report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (June 2017). Noncommunicable Diseases Fact sheet. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/

World Health Organization. (February 2017) Cancer Fact sheet. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/</u>

World Health Organization. (January 2017) Top 10 Causes of Death Fact sheet. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/</u>

World Health Organization. (May 2017) Cardiovascular Disease Fact sheet. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/</u>

World Health Organization (2017). Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity, and Health. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/fruit/en/</u>

Wrieden, W., Peace, H., Armstrong, J., Barton, K. (September 2003). A short review of dietary assessment methods used in National and Scottish Research Studies. Retrieved from: https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/multimedia/pdfs/scotdietassessmethods.pdf

Wright, M. E., Mayne, S. T., Swanson, C. A., Sinha, R., & Alavanja, M. C. R. (February 01, 2003). Dietary carotenoids, vegetables, and lung cancer risk in women: the Missouri Women's Healty Study (United States). *Cancer Causes & Control, 14,* 1, 85-96.

Wright, M. E., Virtamo, J., Hartman, A. M., Pietinen, P., Edwards, B. K., Taylor, P. R., Huttunen, J. K., ... Albanes, D. (March 01, 2007). Effects of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol and  $\beta$ -carotene supplementation on upper aerodigestive tract cancers in a large, randomized controlled trial. *Cancer*, 109, 5, 891-898.

Wrona, M., Korytowski, W., Różanowska, M., Sarna, T., & Truscott, T. G. (January 01, 2003). Cooperation of antioxidants in protection against photosensitized oxidation. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *35*, 10, 1319-1329.

Zamora-Ros, R., Rabassa, M., Llorach, R., González, C. A., & Andres-Lacueva, C. (January 01, 2012). Application of dietary phenolic biomarkers in epidemiology: past, present, and future. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *60*, 27, 6648-57.

Zhao, L. G., Zhang, Q. L., Zheng, J. L., Li, H. L., Zhang, W., Tang, W. G., & Xiang, Y. B. (January 01, 2016). Dietary, circulating beta-carotene and risk of all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis from prospective studies. *Scientific Reports*, *6*.

Zhu, D., Wang, Y., Pang, Y., Liu, A., Guo, J., Bouwman, C. A., West, C. E., ... van, B. R. B. (January 01, 2006). Quantitative analyses of beta-carotene and retinol in serum and feces in support of clinical bioavailability studies. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* : *Rcm*, 20, 16, 2427-32.

Zidichouski, J. A., Mastaloudis, A., Poole, S. J., Reading, J. C., & Smidt, C. R. (January 01, 2009). Clinical validation of a noninvasive, Raman spectroscopic method to assess carotenoid nutritional status in humans. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 28*, 6, 687-93.